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RESULTS

The Group’s results returned to growth in the year ended 31st March,
2007. Net profit amounted to approximately HK$33 million, an
increase of 5% over last year. Turnover grew by 24% to approximately
HK$1,128 million.

Compared with the increase in turnover, the relatively lower growth
in net profit reflected the intensity of the challenges facing the Group
during the year, which put pressure on the Group’s profit margin. Such
challenges included higher operating costs (in particular labour costs)
in Mainland China, increase in the costs of raw materials and interest
payments, and customers’ demands for more competitive pricing
for their orders. Nonetheless, by further strengthening its efforts to
increase sales and improve cost efficiency, the Group has alleviated

the impact brought by the challenges.

The Group’s Singapore subsidiary and Suzhou subsidiary performed
remarkably during the year. The Singapore subsidiary increased
its net profit substantially, while the Suzhou subsidiary achieved a

turnaround to profit.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an agreement to
acquire a 75% interest in a Malaysian company which is principally
engaged in the printing of packaging materials, boxes and instruction
manuals. The consideration for the acquisition is estimated to be
approximately HK$19.8 million. The completion of the acquisition
is conditional upon the fulfillment of a number of conditions by
30th September, 2007. Details of the acquisition were set out in the
circular dispatched to shareholders on 10th May, 2007 and are also

explained under the section “Malaysia Project”.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2006:
HK1.5 cents) per share for the year ended 31st March, 2007 payable
on 17th September, 2007 to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 28th August, 2007. Together with the interim
dividend of HK1.5 cents (2006: HK1.5 cents) paid, full year dividends
for the financial year would be HK3 cents per share (2006: HK3

cents).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A number of formidable challenges confronted the Group during
the year under review. Topping the list was the higher operating
costs in Mainland China. As explained in the Group’s interim report,
the minimum monthly wage of workers in Shenzhen was further
increased to RMB700 in July 2006 following an increase from
RMB480 to RMB580 in July 2005. With the increase in basic wage,
overtime payment and social security cost also increased accordingly.
Given that labour accounts for a significant part of the total cost of
the printing and packaging industry, and the fact that Shenzhen is the
Group’s major production base in China, the substantial increase in
minimum wage and benefits, together with the rise in other operating
expenses such as electricity, has had a major impact on the Group'’s

profit margin.

Due to intense competition in the industry, the increase in costs could
not be fully passed on to customers, who demanded more competitive
pricing and tighter delivery schedules for their orders. As a result, the
Group has to absorb a large portion of the additional costs, as well as

the increased airfreight and subcontracting charges.

In order to proceed with its expansion in Suzhou and Shaoguan, the
Group has increased its bank financing in recent years. With higher
interest rates during the year, the Group’s finance costs increased.
The additional human resources for management, operations and
marketing incurred for the Suzhou and Shaoguan operations also

affected the Group’s bottom line.

The Group responded to these challenges by further capitalizing
on the strengths of its subsidiaries. Having completed its second
phase development, the Suzhou subsidiary was equipped with the
facilities to handle a large amount of orders that require sophisticated
workmanship and service. At the same time, the new plant in
Shaoguan completed its phase-one development, where the minimum
wage and other operating costs are relatively lower compared to

Shenzhen and Guangzhou.

By assigning orders that take advantage of these strengths, the Group
was able to generate higher sales and contain costs. Within the Group,
the Shaoguan plant has increased its capacity for labour intensive
orders, while the Suzhou plant has taken up the responsibilities
of coping with sophisticated orders and spearheading the Group'’s
drive to expand in the booming Yangtze River delta. The Singapore
subsidiary has moved forward to expand the South East Asian and

Oceania markets.
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These measures correspond to the Group’s long-term development
strategy, which is to reduce the Group’s reliance on the United States
market and to diversify the Group’s manufacturing operation to the
less expensive cities in China. The Group will explore other means
to further realign the Group’s resources and to increase its market
penetration, details of which are described in the sections below.
Whilst the management appreciates that it may take time for the
Group’s strategic plans to achieve all the desired results, it is confident
that the Group is moving in the right direction and has a promising

future.

Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Due to higher operating costs, the Group’s printing and packaging
operations in southern China recorded a decline in profit. As
explained above, the major impact came from a further rise in
the minimum wage of workers in southern China cities including
Shenzhen and Guangzhou, where the Group’s major manufacturing
operations are located. Other factors, such as rising interest costs,
fierce price competition, higher airfreight and subcontracting charges,
also played a part in reducing the profit margin of the Group’s

southern China operations.

A more favourable performance was achieved in the eastern China
region, where the Group’s Suzhou subsidiary recorded its first year of
profit. The turnaround is particularly encouraging given the fact that
while the Suzhou subsidiary has benefited from orders transferred
from the Group’s southern China operations, it also managed to
secure more domestic orders on its own efforts in the Yangtze River
delta.

In terms of product range, paper products recorded an increase in
turnover. The environmentally friendly products division continued
with the production of interior packaging products and “Greenworks”

products and further diversified to other paper products.

To increase sales, the Group is looking into the possibility of
tapping the potential of the European market for paper products.
Moreover, in view of the rising operating costs in Mainland China,
the Group is exploring the possibility of further realigning its China
operations and replacing some of the labour intensive production
work with automation. The management will explore these options
by capitalising on the expertise of “Starlite Innovation Centre” and

“Starlite Institute of Management”.
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Suzhou Operation

Despite the unfavourable operating environment, the Suzhou
subsidiary managed to record its first year of profit with an increase in
turnover. This marked a major breakthrough for the Suzhou subsidiary,
which successfully utilized its quality service, enhanced productivity
and effective marketing measures to differentiate itself from the

competition.

With the completion of its phase-two expansion, the Suzhou plant
has become one of the most sophisticated printing and packaging
service providers in the Yangtze River delta. It is now spearheading
the Group’s expansion in the eastern China region apart from acting
as a major manufacturing base of the Group. While providing labels
printing services to a renowned multinational corporation based in
the United States, the Suzhou plant is making preparations to provide
production support to the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary in

Shanghai.

Shaoguan Operation

In spite of a recent increase, the minimum wage and benefits in
Shaoguan continued to be lower than Shenzhen and Guangzhou. This
proved that the Group’s decision to diversify its manufacturing base to

Shaoguan has been a sensible move.

Facilitated by the completion of its phase-one development in the
second quarter of 2006, the Shaoguan plant was able to provide
stronger support to the Group’s environmentally friendly products
division and paper products division in Shenzhen and Guangzhou.
The Group is considering the strategy of further integrating the
resources of the paper products and environmentally friendly
products divisions, which includes the possibility of combining their

production in Shaoguan.

As a further option, the Group is exploring the possibility of
expanding the Shaoguan operation and centralizing the Group’s
production of labour-intensive products in Shaoguan. This may form
part of the Group’s overall plan to realign its production facilities in

southern China.
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Singapore Operation

By further enhancing its marketing initiatives and cost controls, the
Singapore subsidiary managed to record a satisfactory growth in sales
and a substantial increase in net profit despite strong competition from
other Asian-based companies. Moreover, the Singapore subsidiary
also benefited from more efficient allocation of management and
capital resources following the completion of equity transfer of the
Suzhou subsidiary to the Group’s Hong Kong/Mainland China holding

company.

With its existing business on a strong foothold, the Singapore
subsidiary is expanding its business in the South East Asian and
Oceania regions. As part of the effort, the Singapore subsidiary
has agreed to acquire a majority interest in a Malaysian company
subsequent to the year-end. Details of the acquisition are explained

below.

Malaysia Project

On 11th April, 2007, the Singapore subsidiary entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire a 75% interest in Taspack Industrial
Sdn. Bhd. (“Taspack”) for a consideration estimated to be RM9.4
million (approximately HK$19.8 million). Taspack is principally
engaged in the printing of packaging materials, boxes and instruction
manuals. Completion of the sale and purchase is subject to the
fulfillment of a number of conditions by 30th September, 2007, which
include Taspack’s disposal of some of its assets that are unrelated to its

principal businesses.

The Group considers that, to cater for the anticipated higher sales
volume and anticipated future growth of the Singapore subsidiary,
the acquisition of Taspack will provide additional capacity to meet
the needs of the Singapore subsidiary. As the Singapore subsidiary is
located in Singapore and Taspack is conveniently located in Malaysia,
the proximity creates a platform for the Singapore subsidiary to
expand its business without significantly stretching its management

resources.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group by
banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st March,
2007, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-term bank

deposits amounted to approximately HK$107 million.
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During the year under review, the interest expense of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$18 million compared to
approximately HK$14 million recorded last year. Currently, the
Group has Renminbi-denominated loan facilities amounting to
approximately RMB80 million that are available for the Group’s
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou plants for working

capital purposes.

As at 31st March, 2007, the Group had a working capital surplus of
approximately HK$22 million compared to a working capital surplus
of approximately HK$55 million as at 31st March, 2006. The Group’s
debt-to-equity ratio as at 31st March, 2007 was 73% (31st March,
2006: 87%), based on short-term and long-term bank borrowings
and other debts/borrowings (excluding trade related debts) of
approximately HK$272 million (31st March, 2006: HK$300 million),
and shareholders’ funds of approximately HK$375 million (31st
March, 2006: HK$345 million). The Group will continue to adopt

prudent policies to maintain a healthy financial position.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2007, certain assets of the Group with an aggregate
book carrying value of approximately HK$54 million (31st March,
2006: HK$17 million) were pledged to secure the banking facilities of
the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese Renminbi, Japanese Yen,
Singapore dollars or Euro. The exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong
dollars is relatively stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong.
On the other hand, the existing Renminbi-denominated sales revenue
helps to reduce the Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated
operating expenses in Mainland China. Transaction values involving
Japanese Yen or Euro were primarily related to the Group’s purchase
of machinery and such exposures were generally hedged by forward

contracts.
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HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has more than 8,000 employees. The Group

maintains good relations with its employees, providing them
competitive packages and incentive schemes as well as various
training programmes. The Group has maintained a Share Option
Scheme under which share options can be granted to certain
employees (including executive directors of the Company) as
incentive for their contribution to the Group. Following the opening
of the “Starlite Institute of Management”, the Group provides various
training and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis.
The Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and

education institutions abroad to further enhance its staff quality.

LOOKING AHEAD

The economy of the United States is slowing down. Its first quarter
real GDP growth was revised downwards to 0.6%, a higher-than-
expected adjustment compared with the initial estimate of 1.3%, and
represents the slowest growth of the United States economy since
late 2002. The silver lining was that despite tremors in the subprime
mortgage market, real personal consumption expenditures increased
4.4% in the first quarter, compared with an increase of 4.2% in the
fourth quarter of 2006.

Moreover, according to the Economic Outlook published by the
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, the
economic growth in Europe and Japan will outpace the United States
this year for the first time since 2001. The report suggests that the
world can weather a cooling in the United States economy, aided by
robust demand in China and India and strong growth elsewhere. It
forecasts that the Chinese economy will continue to expand at more

than 10% this year and next.

These developments and forecasts provide support to the Group's
positioning. On the marketing side, while maintaining a strong
clientele in the United States, the Group is taking concrete steps
to expand sales in China, South East Asia, Europe and the Oceania
market. China is top of our priority. There is growing evidence that
China can become the “World Consumer” other than the “World
Factory”, and the management strongly believes that the ongoing
plans for the Suzhou and Shanghai subsidiaries will help the Group to

benefit from China’s rising consumption.
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On the other hand, the divide between rich and poor is growing in
China. Moreover, prices are increasing in Chinese cities and towns
as demand for resources continues to outstrip supply. In order to
maintain social stability, the Chinese government is likely to further
increase the minimum wage of workers in the near future. Foreseeing
this trend, the Group is considering plans to further consolidate and
realign its manufacturing facilities. One of the options is to further

utilize the Shaoguan facility.

All in all, the global economic environment is expected to remain
favourable with China playing an increasingly important role in Asia
and in the world. As in the past, the global economy will encounter
new challenges as it moves ahead, and the Group is adopting a
cautious approach and maintaining flexibility to allow necessary
adjustments when required. Being proactive and prudent, the
management believes that the Group is well prepared to meet new

challenges and make new mileage.
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Take a look around the world and one can see the impact of
economic globalization. Businesses are competing across the border,
in every corner, day and night. “China Price” is dictating the world
market for low and medium-end products. Zealous entrepreneurs and
hard-working labourers alike are trying every means to stand their

ground, to survive and grow, in an era of slim profit.

With good intentions of letting the working class share the success
of rapid economic growth, the Chinese government increased the
minimum monthly wage significantly. As an example, the minimum
wage in Shenzhen rose annually by more than 20% year after year.
At the same time, the rise of raw material manufacturers in China led
to a decline in the foreign counterparts. With less competition, prices
were not adjusted properly, supply and demand became imbalanced,
prices of raw materials surged while their quality declined — all these
should not be the case in a market economy. Elsewhere, the United
States and European markets remained sluggish, and buyers in these
markets demanded more competitive pricing for their orders while
presenting higher credit risks of possible insolvency. All in all, our

industry was confronted by formidable and unprecedented challenges.

Facing the challenges, Starlite Group launched the “2006 Cost
Campaign” following the “2005 Acceleration Campaign”. Cost
saving became a major matter on our daily agendas. Innovative
measures were put into practice in an urgent manner throughout the
organization, ranging from Starlite Innovation Centre and Starlite
Institute of Management, to all our production plants and each and
every subsidiary. Implementation was closely supervised at all levels,
from management to customer service and product design, entailing
new concepts, new technology and new logistics. Consequently, our
operations continued to improve in recent years and the results were
encouraging. While there had been setbacks during the course, we
knew very clearly that only with joined efforts and solid changes to
create value for customers could we respond to the challenges, gain
inroads into the high-end market, expand our business, and strive for

satisfactory returns for our shareholders.
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Having passed through rains and storms, Starlite Group has become
more resilient. Being an upright enterprise with strong integrity,
we stick to the principle of “Not Accepting Eight Kinds of Printing
Orders”. We are committed to environmental protection and are
in full compliance with the ISO14001 environmental management
systems. We are also the first printing and packaging plant in eastern
China selected by the State Printing Standardization Council to
pioneer and promote printing and packaging standards. While
expanding the Mainland China market and operations, we are making
further development in Singapore and Malaysia. We are capitalizing
on the strengths of our subsidiaries in various regions — ranging from
Singapore and Malaysia, to Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and
Suzhou in China — to create synergy in our service across the world’s
hot investment zones and to extend our competitive advantages

gained from years of hard working.

We do not want to become the biggest. We want to become the
best. The fact is Starlite is equipped with sophisticated technology
and facilities, professional teams, quality products and strong and
loyal clienteles. In 2006/2007, with the dedicated efforts of our staff
who showed the team spirit of thriving against the odds, the Group

managed to record a 24% growth in sales.

Looking ahead, “survival of the fittest” will remain the rule of the
jungle in the business world in 2007/2008. However, it is our
belief that by sharing the same vision, we can grow together with
our business partners in the supply chain and contribute to the
construction of a harmonious society. Starlite People will face the
challenges with courage, perseverance and adaptability, and will

strive for new opportunities with innovation and creativity.

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9th July, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS meaWEx

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZH=+—-HLFE

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TER AT FHET FAET FAT

Revenue PN 1,128,021 907,054 850,787 693,348 610,767

Operating profit 428 555 | 58,929 67,001 86,934 75,362 70,665

Profit for the year, FRAR A

attributable to equity BEEFEAA

holders of the Company FE A % F 32,541 31,128 62,804 57,517 52,260

Dividends A% & 12,884 12,884 17,079 14,813 12,475

Basic earnings per share & F R R 2 A #E 25
for profit attributable A AESRF
to equity holders of the FEZEBREAR
Company (HK cents) 2R GEW) 7.58 7.27 14.77 13.70 12.70




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets/
(liabilities)

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders’ equity

FERBEE
RBEE
nEEE

MEBEE/
(BfE)#H8

BEERRE
A&

FRBEME
BEFE

P R

REEEEREX
As at 31st March,
KR=B=+—H
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
476,385 446,497 363,320 306,687 298,063
422,428 376,765 333,807 284,260 216,176
(400,600) (321,820) (286,105) (236,653) (217,746)
21,828 54,945 47,702 47,607 (1,570)
498,213 501,442 411,022 354,294 296,493
(123,135) (156,021) (84,191) (75,115) (64,203)
375,078 345,421 326,831 279,179 232,290
375,078 345,421 326,831 279,179 232,290
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The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the
year ended 31st March, 2007.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of packaging
materials, labels, paper products and environmentally friendly

products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment result by business
segment and geographical segment are set out in Note 5 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2007, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 31% of the Group’s total revenue and
the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 25% of the
Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer accounted
for approximately 8% of the Group’s revenue while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 13% of the Group’s total

purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which, to
the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s

five largest customers or suppliers.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March, 2007
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 47 of this

annual report.

The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK$0.015 per
ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$6,442,000, which was
paid on 19th January, 2007.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.015 per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$6,442,000,
and recommend that the retained profits of approximately
HK$210,843,000 be carried forward.
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Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share option
scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 25 and 26, respectively,

to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the

year are set out in Note 27 to the accompanying financial statements.

As at 31st March, 2007, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$9,988,000 was available for distribution to the
Company’s shareholders, of which HK$6,442,000 has been proposed

as the final dividend for the year.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year ended
31st March, 2007.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-

laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in Note 16 to the accompanying financial statements.

Bank loans

Particulars of bank loans as at 31st March, 2007 are set out in Notes

21 and 31 to the accompanying financial statements.

Pension schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Charitable contributions

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$250,000 (2006: HK$102,000).
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Directors and directors’ service contracts

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Chairman

Ms. Yeung Chui, Vice Chairman

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, Senior Vice President

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Senior Vice President

Non-executive director
Mr. Christopher James Williams

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all of the directors
will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group which
is not terminable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-executive directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yue
Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, JP and Mr. Tam King

Ching, Kenny, and considers them to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2007, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were

as follows:

Long positions in Shares
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Personal

Name of Director Capacity interests
EEpR g4 BAES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner, interest BiHHE EEER 2,150,000
wkmEE of spouse & controlled RHIAR Z MR

corporation, beneficiary k3

and founder of trusts RAIHA
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner, interest B ## 5 - BIBE 1,100,000
BEIL of spouse & controlled ZERHARz

corporation, beneficiary FERIZHA

and founder of trusts RAIEA
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Beneficial owner & EREER -
wEERE interest of spouse EEEs
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles  Beneficial owner i) 750,000

REREE

1 Details of share options granted to Directors are separately disclosed under the heading
of Share Option Scheme.

Notes:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 844,000 shares in the Company. The entire
issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr.
Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yeung Chui. The 844,000 shares of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and
Mes. Yeung Chui are the same block of shares.

2. Best Grade Advisory Limited (“BGAL”) held 221,054,174 shares in the Company.

The entire issued share capital of BGAL is held by Masterline Industrial Limited as
trustee of The New Super Star Unit Trust. All except one units in The New Super
Star Unit Trust are beneficially owned by two discretionary trusts, the discretionary
beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Ms. Yeung Chui and Mr. Lam
Chuen Yik, Kenneth. HSBC International Trustee Limited acted as trustee of the two
discretionary trusts. The two references to 221,054,174 shares relate to the same
block of shares in the Company.

RRGOZHR
Family Corporate Other Approximate %  'Outstanding
interests interests interests Total  of Shareholding  share options
EREZBN  HRTE
33§ L $- Hitig s By BA 2R
1,100,000 844,000 221,054,174 225,148,174 52.42% 3,412,000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(BtzED) (Mf5£2)
2,150,000 844,000 221,054,174 225,148,174 52.42% 2,802,000
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(BtzED) (Mf5£2)
18,000 — — 18,000 0.004% 1,920,000
— — — 750,000 0.17% 1,940,000
1 RTEFHREZFBERA N ZBRE 80 R#ud -
(h=a
1. F R AR A FRA AR F844,0000 10 - Z AR Z 28
ERTBRAGAMENEERSRLEIERAER RIEH - &
L ER AR e A0 5 A R 45 22 4 69844,0008% & 17 - E AR [R) —
s £ o 2
2. Best Grade Advisory Limited ([ BGAL |) #% & 7~ 2 221,054,174

& A% 1) » MBGALZ % #6 2 % 77 i 8 A The New Super Star Unit
TrustZ {Z 55 AMasterline Industrial Limited¥ A © kx —{E B A1 5h +
The New Super Star Unit TrustZ E ftb Bz & AW @ 2 =T &
A MAE2REAZIZABEMRRNEE - BRELL
KRR 18 55 4 o MHSBC International Trustee Limited 4 i [ 2 4
EFEHEREA o DI RIBEFTIR & 2221,054, 174 A A RIBRAD -
BiER R R -
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief Executive
of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2007, any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company since
6th September, 2002 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to replace a
share option scheme which had been adopted on 8th February, 1993
(the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply with the current statutory
requirements. The Company may grant options to the participants as
set out in the New Share Option Scheme. Summary of the Old Share

Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme was as follows :

Old Share Option Scheme

BERETE

1. Purpose of the Old and New Share Option As an incentive to employees

ERHEBRER-

Schemes
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New Share Option Scheme
R &

To provide participants with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to
encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares
REBEANTRUBSARAFMAEREZ
e ITHEBB2EATBRNBERER
Al R H Ay 2 BIE -

2. Participants of the Old and New Share Any full-time employee of the Company (i) Any full-time employee of the

Option Schemes
ERHERETIN2EAL
any Subsidiary)

ARAREMBRARNZRES (£

or any Subsidiary (including full-time
executive directors of the Company or

Company or of any Subsidiary; and

(ii) Any full-time executive director of
the Company or of any subsidiary
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3. Total number of Shares available for issue
under the Old and New Share Option
Schemes and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of the annual report
RBERMBRAETETETRNDEH
ERAREFREBEEETRABS L

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Old and New Share Option
Schemes
BUSEATREBEERTBRESST
RFH RSB

Old Share Option Scheme
ERRETS

The maximum number of Shares in
respect of which options may be
granted (when aggregated with any
securities subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Group) shall
not exceed 10% of the number of
issued Shares of the Company from
time to time excluding the aggregate
number of shares which are issued
pursuant to the Old Option Scheme.

REBREFEMAELER T ZER
R CGER AL B E BB AR &P
RITEZBRE) AR &S 2
B NSBBARATKEETRA
10% -« M 618 E 17 (AR 45 &8 B IR
PRI T 2 AR BT 2R -

25% of the aggregate number of Shares
in respect of which options are issuable
under the Old Share Option Scheme
EBRRESAIERTRETZROA
#E25% o

New Share Option Scheme
R E

The Company may initially grant
options representing 41,250,098 Shares
under the New Share Option Scheme
(i.e. approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the
date of the adoption of the New Share
Option Scheme and approximately
9.6% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the annual
report).

The maximum number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes
adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. No options may be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme
or any other share option scheme if
that will result in the 30% limit being
exceeded.

RBF RS E KRBV LAl
T ¥ %41,250,008 8 2 0 (15 A8 2 &7
R B 2 A B 2 B BITRR
0% RIERARRRAFRBEH 2B
EITIAR4)9.6% ) 2 FE I HE -

BRIEARRBRA B R EZ R
I E A SR T ifn R 1T 2 B AR
BTERmAI ST 2R RS2 EE
THRBRATREETRG Z30% ° i#
RIEFERE SR TRERESESHE
iB30% PR - BN A% T B AR A o

The total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the
New Share Option Scheme or any other
share option scheme adopted by the
Company in any 12 month period must
not exceed 1 % of the Shares in issue.
RENBEREFEURRNRE ZE
i) E B8 A 5T 3 - A AR 2ME B A
MR AEU2EALETERER
17 1 s i (B IR B 1T 68 e R AT
zERE)ERTREETRETZR
NRE TEBREDHITRNHBE Z
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5. The period within which the Shares must
be taken up under an option

RiEERBARBRO MR

6. The minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.

ARITERFTEBRENREHR

7. The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period
within which payments or calls must or
may be made or loans for such purposes
must be paid
BRSSO AR U B B 2 BEIA I R
HBANAOBRAEERFBERER
TR HA IR

Old Share Option Scheme
ERRETS

At any time during a period to be
determined by the Board, which shall
not be more than 10 years from the
date on which the option is granted.
HEZEGRE 2 HEAEMER - 1
BEwOAABEERE A PR+
o

An option may be exercised at any time
during a period commencing on the
expiry of 6 calendar months after the
date of grant of the option, but in any
event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant.

BREATNOER TEREESE B R
NERE A REMERETE ETGHE
B A% B R R A B HI0F IASD -

HK$10 is to be paid as consideration
for the grant of option and the option
shall be accepted within 28 days from
the date of offer
FEXNEBIOTERR TEREZ
HRE - MBRELANKT B HE
28R N -

New Share Option Scheme
R E

Must not be more than 10 years from
the date of offer or grant of the option.
BERBREOE T ZAEF A EEH
T

An option may be exercised at any time
during a period commencing on the
expiry of 6 calendar months after the
date of grant of the option, but in any
event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant.
BRETARHRTEREE BN
& A& EMSEITE  ENSEE
FZAB IR A H105F LAS -

The amount payable on acceptance of
an option is HK$10 and an offer shall
remain open for acceptance by the
participant for a period of 28 days from
the date on which the letter containing
the offer is delivered to that participant.
EmBEREMASIN ZREREEI0
T o 2B AL AR U R 4 R R
28 H HAT A3 4 B AR -



8. The basis of determining the exercise price
EETEENEE

9. The remaining life of the Old and New
Share Option Schemes

B T R A R AT B A R R HR IR

Old Share Option Scheme
ERRETS

The exercise price is determined by the
Board in their absolute discretion but
in any event shall not be less than the
higher of:

(i) 80% of the average of the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of

grant of an option; or

(ii) the nominal value of the Shares

TEERESSET BTBE

ST

() BEEBEREXTEHHIAIAER S
ARODRERMNFEHRTERN
80% ¢ X

e

(i R EE -

The Old Share Option Scheme was
adopted on 8th February, 1993 and was
originally effective until 7th February,
2003. On 6th September, 2002, the
Old Share Option Scheme was resolved
by the shareholders of the Company to
have been terminated thereon.
EEREFER-NANA=ZF_AN
ARMERRN_ZEZE=F_H+H
A—HEER - R-ZZZT_FALARX
B RNRBIRERFHRE R E B %
HARBUH

New Share Option Scheme
R E

The exercise price shall be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion
and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of a Share as stated
in the daily quotations sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day;

or

(i) the average closing price of a Share
as stated in the daily quotations
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; or

(iii) the nominal value of the Shares on

the date of grant.

BREZTEERESSEE AR

DIAT R & m A& R

iy RORIBEHETHEREER (A
REFXA)MZAERARERA
S 2T (E %

(i BRORERRHE THBRER Y
AIEERS A EBZAEARE
R A2 FHURTE X

(A ETEREZ BRMHEE-

The New Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the adoption date
i.e. 6th September, 2002
MBRESSmRAR (I Z22
FARRBIRTHFA-—BEENMEEA
R e
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The following table shows the movements in the Company's share

options during the year and the outstanding options at the beginning

and end of the year:

Old share option scheme

Name

i3]

Directors

%

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
MINSEE

Ms. Yeung Chui
BRZ T

New share option scheme

Name

i3]

(i) Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
Motnsk £

Ms. Yeung Chui
BRI

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi,
Angus
BEELAE

Mr. Cheung Chi
Shing, Charles

RERSEE

m

(i)  Employees

El
piiiiys]

Date of grant
R

10.9.1997

10.9.1997

Date of grant
R AH

19.2.2004

9.2.2007

19.2.2004

9.2.2007

19.2.2004
29.12.2004

9.2.2007

19.2.2004
29.12.2004

9.2.2007

6.2.2004
29.12.2004
28.10.2005

9.2.2007

Exercise period

TR

11.3.1998 —
9.9.2007

11.3.1998 —
9.9.2007

Exercise period

il

19.8.2004 —
18.2.2007

9.8.2007 —
8.2.2010

19.8.2004 —
18.2.2007

9.8.2007 —
8.2.2010

19.8.2004 —
18.2.2007

29.6.2005 -
28.12.2007

9.8.2007 —
8.2.2010

19.8.2004 —
18.2.2007

29.6.2005 -
28.12.2007

9.8.2007 —
8.2.2010

6.8.2004 —
5.2.2007
29.6.2005 -
28.12.2007
28.4.2006 —
27.10.2007
9.8.2007 —
8.2.2010

Exercise price
per share
BRABE
HK$

BT

0.69

0.69

Exercise price
per share

FRPBMEE
HK$
ET

1.07

0.48

1.07

0.48

1.07
0.77

0.48

1.07
0.77

0.48

0.93
0.77
0.72

0.48

RARERENRFANZEH RNF I RFLEERT
82 BRI T RN

ERRETE

Granted during

Exercised during

Lapsed during

Beginning of year the year the year the year End of year
9 FREREH FRITE AP S FR
'000 ‘000 000 000 000
TR T T TR T

1,912 — — — 1,912
1,602 — — — 1,602
3,514 — — — 3,514
R ST &
Granted during  Exercised during Lapsed during

Beginning of year the year the year the year End of year
4 FARE FRITRE FREK FR
000 000 000 ‘000 000
T T T T T

2,250 — - (2,250) -
— 1,500 — — 1,500
2,250 - - (2,250) -
- 1,200 — - 1,200
1,200 - - (1,200) -
1,420 - - - 1,420
— 500 — - 500
1,200 - - (1,200) —
1,440 — — — 1,440
- 500 - - 500
3,363 - - (3,363) -
2,756 - - (764) 1,992
482 - - (64) 418
— 3,885 — — 3,885
16,361 7,585 i (11,091) 12,855




The Company had used a Binomial Option Pricing Model to
determine the fair value of certain options granted as at the date
of grant, details of which are set out in Note 26 to the financial
statements.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model was developed to estimate the
fair value of American style options, that is, options that can be
exercised at any time throughout the option term from the date of
being vested. It is one of the commonly used models to estimate the
fair value of an option which can be exercised before the expiry of the
option period. The value of an option varies with different variables of
certain subjective assumptions. Any change in variables so adopted

may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any of
the Company’s directors or members of its management to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 32 to the accompanying financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group'’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
companies was a party and in which any of the Company’s directors
or members of its management had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

AARERA—BEAAEEEREXNIIESE THEL
HEREABRLEAZAFTE FHHARYBEREN
726 °

THEAREEEX D AEGMEHE (AEhE
[ERERGENITEMARBEETE CHE) 2DFE -
WA ARITERERATE 2Rz A FER
FRzEF-EREX -HRZEEEEETIHR
ReBBELRAEIMER -HREZATELERS
BEFffmzBEHRENEZSMIENEALE -

B Bt 5 5E & S F AERESRE - A DR R E AR
MWEARBESBIMLE SR ARAFESFHA
EREREFEWEARBRAEMNEMEAREZR
[PESEERI T

ESRNERzZRE

PRt BERN 2 B A5 SRR I EE32 R BB A S - R A A Bk K
B & X B P 4 4% Sk B N AR AT B R - I R T B L f B2
AEEXEBAEMALARESTAEREEREEEX
MEBEAETEANBZERZSH -
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Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the Company,
as at 31st March, 2007, shareholders (other than Directors or Chief

Executive of the Company) who had interest or short positions in the

shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3

of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required

to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

Notes:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity
BREREB &1
Best Grade Advisory Limited Beneficial owner
BEnlEH
Masterline Industrial Limited Trustee
EFEA
HSBC International Trustee Limited Trustee
EREA

Long positions of other persons in the shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

BREREE -87)

Value Partners Limited Investment manager

wEKE

Cheah Cheng Hye Interest of controlled

Bt e

corporation

SR NI 5

The two references of 221,054,174 shares relate to the same block of shares in the
Company. Best Grade Advisory Limited (“BGAL”) held 221,054,174 shares in the
Company. The entire issued share capital of BGAL is held by Masterline Industrial
Limited as trustee of The New Super Star Unit Trust. All except one units in The
New Super Star Unit Trust are beneficially owned by two discretionary trusts, the
discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Ms. Yeung Chui and
Mr. Lam Chuen Yik, Kenneth. HSBC International Trustee Limited acted as trustee of
the two discretionary trusts.

FERRK

MARBEEHRTETHABRN RZZETLF
ZA=+—8 RAQARMDKEERDFHEER
BEHREEGROIEXVEFE2K B35 56 &AM
ARARBEBHCHNARRTIRZFRABKAE336
BETHELMANERIAE ZRE (KRFES
REZTHABRINGAT

1. EEBRRRARBRMDZHA

Approximate % of

Number of Shares Shareholding
g 4= HREZBNES T
221,054,174 51.47%
(Note 1)
(B &E1)
221,054,174 51.47%
(Note 1)
(B&E1)
221,054,174 51.47%
(Note 2)
(Bt E2)

2. EMATRARBARMDZTE

Approximate % of

Number of Shares Shareholding
R&OHE HREZBAES L
25,738,000 5.99%

(Note 3)

(M 3E3)
25,738,000 5.99%

(Note 3)

(M4 3E3)

Bt &

1. R R R BT IR & 2221,054,174R A R AR5 - BIER — R 15

W% o bt A% 17 B Best Grade Advisory Limited ([ BGAL ) #54 ©
BGALZ & #8 2 % 772 A< i The New Super Star Unit TrustZ {57
AMasterline Industrial Limited$§ % © Bk — & % {iZ 5f * The New
Super Star Unit TrustZ E B S AMEREEAERHER
MZELEEEIZIXBABERRANEE  BREL LT RKE
845 & © MHSBC International Trustee Limited /3 7 2 # {2 7t £
fEFEA -



2. The two references of 221,054,174 Shares described in Note 1 and Note 2 relate
to the same block of Shares in the Company. HSBC International Trustee Limited
(“HSBC”), as trustee of two discretionary trusts in which Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Ms.
Yeung Chui and Mr. Lam Chuen Yik, Kenneth were the beneficiaries, were interested
and/or deemed to be interested in the said 221,054,174 shares.

3. The two references to 25,738,000 shares relate to the same block of shares in the
Company.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the four non-executive
directors of the Company of which three of them are independent.
The audit committee has reviewed with management the accounting
policies adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2007.

Summary financial information
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five

financial years is set out on pages 20 and 21 of this annual report.

Directors’ interests in competing business
During the year ended 31st March, 2007, none of the Directors nor
their respective associates had any interests in a business which

competes or may compete with the businesses of the Company

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm
that the Company has maintained during the year under review the

amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by

the Company is set out on pages 34 to 41 of the annual report.

Auditors

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the ensuring

year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 9th July, 2007
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and upholding good
corporate governance in order to protect the interests of shareholders,
customers, suppliers and staff. The Company strives at ensuring high
standards of corporate governance in the interests of shareholders and
takes care to identify practices designed to achieve effective oversight,

transparency and ethical behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2007, the Company was in
compliance with the Code as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the

“Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate governance
practices of the Company during the year ended 31st March, 2007

and significant events after that date and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities transactions by the
Directors. All Directors have confirmed that, during the year ended
31st March, 2007, they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code regarding securities transactions by the

Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is clear division of responsibilities between the
Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for providing
high-level guidance and effective oversight of the Management.

Generally, the Board is responsible for:

. formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring the

implementation thereof;

J reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

J approving the annual and interim reports;

. reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

. ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

. monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has 8 members, comprising three independent
non-executive directors, one non-executive director and four
executive directors of whom certain are with appropriate professional

qualification or are in possession of financial management expertise.
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The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to determine
overall strategic direction and objectives and approve interim and
annual results and other significant matters. During the year ended
31st March, 2007, four Board meetings were held with an average
attendance rate of 81%, details of which are presented below.

Board Members Meetings Attended/Held

Executive directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board) 4/4
Ms. Yeung Chui 4/4
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus 3/4
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles 4/4

Non-executive director
Mr. Christopher James Williams 1/4

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, jp 2/4
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 4/4

The meeting schedule had been prepared and approved by the Board
in the preceding year. In general, Board agenda and meeting materials
are despatched to all Board members in a timely manner. Board
agenda is approved by the Chairman following consultation with

other Board members and the Management.

The Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, is responsible
for taking minutes of Board and Board Committee meetings. Draft
and final minutes are sent to all Directors for comments within a
reasonable time. A final draft of each minutes of meetings is made

available for inspection by Directors/Committee Members.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. They are also encouraged to take independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense in performance of their duties, if
necessary. Furthermore, all the Directors are covered by the Directors’

& Officers’ Liability Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.
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BBz 4/4
HEELE 3/4
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Christopher James Williams 5 4 1/4
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BRAA Y ST 4 4/4
WA P+ 2/4
B 4/4
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Chairman and CEO
Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief

executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not have a separate Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam Kwong Yu currently holds
both positions. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person would
allow the Company to be more effective and efficient in developing
long-term business strategies and execution of business plans. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operating of the Board which comprises experienced
and high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Non-executive Directors.

Appointments, re-election and removal

The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure agreeing to
the appointment of its own members and for nominating them for
election by the shareholders on first appointment and thereafter
subject to retirement and re-election at annual general meeting in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Code Provision A.4.1
stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a
specific term, subject to re-election. The non-executive directors of
the Company have not been appointed for a specific term as they
are subject to retirement and re-election at annual general meeting
in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company
has not established any nomination committee and is not currently
considering establishing the same owing to the small size of the Board
of the Company. The Chairman of the Board is mainly responsible for
identifying appropriate candidates to fill the casual vacancy whenever
it arises or to add additional member as and when required. The
Chairman will propose the qualified candidate(s) to the Board for
consideration. The Board will approve the appointment based on the
suitability, qualification of the candidate. The Chairman of the Board
is reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors,

on a regular basis.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided with
sufficient orientation package, including introduction to Group
activities (when necessary), induction into their responsibilities and
duties, and other regulatory requirements, to ensure that he has a
proper understanding of the business and his responsibilities as a

Director of the Company.

ERRTHRAR

SRR EA2 MR EFE R 5 £ % BT BN A
& WA EH— ARRRE - ARFILEE D T FE A
TR MAMELBAREZMERL -EFS
BE B-—ARTETFETRARNAETEAR
AEERMRERERERREEBEBARRITES
HE-EESHEE EFehEREENESATA
B MEHEREDRIENTES  REUARREH
BN D T -

ZE -BEETRHR
EEe2RAANIAEREEAGHNERRER
EERRENSHERERREARERZERF -
A FALIGREFATEETNREREFH
WAERSBEMER MARBZFRTESLER
BEETHEET EREAQFAZRME - REANK
REAFARELERLREE - HRARREZTSHRR
N B AR A RAERZERIREZE S - BATTR
VTERZEEKRIREEZEEG -EECTIRIZEEY
EEEANENEAMERERZZRANEFTERH
BRE - TERNEFGEZRAERABUHREE -
EZeRBAEZCERREREEMMUERE-
EEeT R CHRAEST O 2R RARLAK
NGB ERTEE 2B -

ExvEE

MEBEENEIZAER BESRERHZEER
B BRENMEAREET REFER) GNHAESR
FEBERAEMEERTE UBRREHARFER
RERARRERZEEABE TH -

37



38

Each of the Directors is required to give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company. As seen above, a very satisfactory
average attendance rates were recorded on the meetings of the Board

and Committees under the Board.

Independent non-executive Directors
The roles of the independent non-executive Directors include the
following:

(i) provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
(i) take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
(iii)  serve on committees if invited; and

(iv)  scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company or
its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member of any
independent non-executive Directors is employed as an executive
officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been so in the past
three years. The independent non-executive Directors are subject
to retirement and re-election at the Annual General Meeting in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Each independent
non-executive Director has provided a confirmation of his
independence with reference to the new independence guidelines as

set out in the Listing Rules.

Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and properly
discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company Secretary
ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the Directors in a
timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are also made available

for inspection by the Board and its Committees.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee
composed of all the four non-executive directors of the Company of

which three of them are independent, details as set out below.
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Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Non-executive Director
Mr. Christopher James Williams

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on its
proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its duties and

responsibilities.

A meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least once a year to coincide with key dates within the financial
reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st March, 2007,
attendance for the two meetings held by the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

Remuneration Committee Members Meetings Attended/Held

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 2/2
Mr. Christopher James Williams 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, jp 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 2/2

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the

compensation of the directors and senior executives for 2007.

During the year ended 31st March, 2007, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$10,086,000 (2006:
HK$10,993,000), individual details of which are disclosed in Note
10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and senior
management’s compensation including the long-term incentive shall

be based on the corporate and individual performance.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for
that period. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31st March, 2007, the Directors have selected suitable accounting

policies and applied them consistently; adopted appropriate Hong
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Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards; made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the going
concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Company.

Internal controls

The Board has delegated to management the responsibility to
develop and maintain a sound internal control system. The internal
control system, operating through a framework of management and
operational controls, and risk management systems, is intended to
allow the Board to monitor the Group’s business performance and
financial positions, to control and adjust risk exposures, to adopt
sound business practices, to obtain reasonable assurance on controls
against fraud and errors, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and to provide oversight and guidance to

management in achieving the Company’s objectives.

The key procedures that the Group has established to maintain an

effective internal control system are as follows:

o A clear management organisational structure is set up
with well-defined lines of authority, accountability and
responsibilities.

. Regular reporting of the performance of the Company’s
businesses to senior management. The Board reviews the
Group’s business and financial performance on a quarterly
basis.

J The internal audit department shall independently evaluate the
adequacy and effectiveness of key controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. The internal audit function reports major findings
and recommendations, if any, to the Audit Committee on a

quarterly basis.

Assessment of Internal Control System

The Board has assessed the effectiveness of internal control system
by considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee and
management, and the findings of both internal and external
auditors. In undertaking this assessment, the Board also engaged an
independent risk consulting firm to assist in the establishment of the
internal audit function and execution of internal audit plan thoughout
the year ended 31st March, 2007.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee is composed of all the four non-executive
directors of the Company of which three of them are independent.
The audit committee has reviewed with management the accounting
policies adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2007.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual and interim results of
2007 and was content that the accounting policies of the Group are
in accordance with the generally accepted accounting practices in

Hong Kong.

Attendance for the four meetings held by the Audit Committee during

the year is set out below:

Audit Committee Members Meetings Attended/Held

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4
Mr. Christopher James Williams 1/4
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, jp 3/4

Auditors’ Remuneration

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. During the year, remuneration of
approximately HK$1,552,000 was payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers
for the provision of audit services. In addition, approximately
HK$327,000 was payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for other
non-audit services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and other advisory services.

Communication with Shareholders

Communication with shareholders is given high priority. Extensive
information about the Group’s activities is provided in the Annual
Report and the Interim Report. The Group’s website provides regularly
updated Group information to shareholders. The Company also
arranges regular site visit for investors and media. Enquiries on matters
relating to shareholdings and the business of the Group are welcome,
and are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. The Group

encourages all shareholders to attend annual general meeting.
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 60

Mr. Lam is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
and is the founder of the Group. He holds a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the National University of Singapore.
Mr. Lam has been in community work in China and Hong Kong for
many years. He is a member of the 10th National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a member of
Election Committee for the 1st and 2nd Government of HKSAR and
a committee member of the 2006 Election Committee Subsector
Elections, a director of Chinese Overseas Friendship Association,
an Adjunct Professor of City University of Hong Kong, an Executive
Director of Guangzhou Jinan University and a Guest Professor
of South China Normal University. Mr. Lam has received several
prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young
Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong
1988”, “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs Award 1990”, “Outstanding
Achievements Award” of the “Hong Kong Print Award 1999” and
“Medal of Honor” (M.H.) from the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in 2002. Mr. Lam has over 41 years’
experience in the printing industry and is responsible for the overall

policy making and business development of the Group.

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 60

Ms. Yeung is the Vice Chairman of the Company. Ms. Yeung is
responsible for the finance, administration, personnel and purchasing
functions of the Group. She has over 41 years’ experience in the

printing industry. Ms. Yeung is the wife of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu.

Mer. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 50

Mr. Tai is the Senior Vice President of the Company. He joined the
Group in 1990 and is currently the Chief Technical Officer of the
Group. He graduated from the Graphics Art Department of the
Chinese Culture University of Taiwan in 1978. He is the author of the
book titled “The Quality Control of the Printing Industry”. He has over

22 years’ experience in the printing industry.
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Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 51

Mr. Cheung is the Senior Vice President of the Company. He joined
the Group in early 1997 and is responsible for the overall finance and
administration functions of the Group, and has been appointed as a
director in September 2000. He has held various senior positions in
finance, accounting and auditing fields for more than 21 years. Mr.
Cheung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is an Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of Chartered

Certified Accountants.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Christopher James Williams, aged 48

Mr. Williams joined the Board in 1997 and is currently a Non-
Executive Director of the Company. He is a practising solicitor and
is a partner in the firm of Richards Butler. He is qualified in England
and Wales and in Hong Kong and has over 22 years of the legal
experience. His area of specialisation include corporate finance,
capital markets, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and cross
border transactions. Mr. Williams is a non-executive director of
Robinson and Co. Ltd, and of Overseas Union Enterprise Ltd. (both of

which are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 55

Mr. Chan is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since 1993. Mr. Chan is the Executive Chairman of the publicly-listed
Café de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong Kong. He is also a Non-
executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited, an Independent
Non-executive Director of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
and Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited, all of which are listed in Hong
Kong, and a Non-executive director of a Singapore publicly listed
Carats Limited (formerly known as Daka Designs Limited). He holds
a double major degree in Sociology and Political Science, a Masters
degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba and an
Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business Administration. Mr. Chan is
currently an elected member of the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association, the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong, and the Quality
Tourism Services Association. He is also the Chairman of the Business
Enterprise Management Centre of the Hong Kong Management
Association. He has over 12 years of professional experience in the
public sector and over 21 years’ managerial experience in the food

and catering industry.
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Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, jp, aged 51

Mr. Kwok was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company in July 2004. He is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong,
and is currently the Managing Partner, China of Mallesons Stephen
Jaques. He is qualified to practice as a solicitor in Australia, England
and Singapore. He is also qualified as an accountant in Hong Kong
and Australia. He graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia
with bachelor’s degrees in economics (major in accounting and
economies) and laws respectively as well as a master’s degree in laws.
Mr. Kwok is currently an independent non-executive director of a
number of publicly listed companies in Hong Kong, namely Pacific
Andes International Holdings Limited, First Shanghai Investments
Limited, Shenyin Wanguo (HK) Limited, Carry Wealth Holdings
Limited and Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 58

Mr. Tam was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Tam graduated from Concordia
University, Canada with a bachelor degree in commerce. He is
a qualified accountant in Hong Kong and Canada. Mr. Tam is a
practicing accountant in Hong Kong and is the owner of Kenny Tam &
Co., Certified Public Accountants. He is also a registered Insolvency
Practitioner of the Official Receiver’s Office. Mr. Tam has substantial
experience in the accounting and insolvency fields. He serves on a
number of advisory committees in the Accountancy and Insolvency
Professional and has been active in community work in Hong Kong
for many years. Mr. Tam sits on the board as independent non-
executive director of a number of publicly listed companies in Hong
Kong, namely Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited, CCT Telecom Holdings Limited, Van
Shung Chong Holdings Limited, North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

and Swank International Manufacturing Company Limited.

Senior Management

Mr. Lim Pheck Wan, Richard, aged 42

Mr. Lim is the Senior Vice President (Marketing and Sales) of the
Company. He joined the Group in 1994 and is responsible for the
overall sales and marketing function of the Group. He has held
various senior position within the Group, and until recently was the
General Manager for its Singapore and Suzhou subsidiary. Mr. Lim
holds a Master of Science Degree in International Marketing from
the University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, and has more than 18 years

experience in the printing industry.
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PRICEWATERHOUSE(QOPERS

BORKEG TSR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 112, which comprise the
consolidated and the Company balance sheets as at 31st March, 2007,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies

and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852)2289 8888
Facsimile (852)2810 9888
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31st March, 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 9th July, 2007
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other gains — net

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Operating profit
Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year, attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Earnings per share for profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company

during the year

(expressed in HK cents per share)

— Basic

— Diluted

Dividends

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2006
HK$'000
TAET

907,054
(700,549)

206,505

1,609
(50,367)
(90,746)

67,001
(13,389)

53,612
(22,484)

31,128

7.27

7.26

2007

Note HK$’000

B 5 FET

5 1,128,021

7 (881,378)

246,643

6 393

7 (62,913)

7 (125,194)

58,929

8 (17,304)

41,625

11 (9,084)

12 32,541
13

7.58

7.58

14 12,884

12,884
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As at 31st March, 2007

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Leasehold land and land
use rights
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in and amounts
due from subsidiaries
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bills receivable
Prepayments and deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations,

current portion

Trade and bills payable
Accruals and other payables
Current income tax liabilities

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations,
non-current portion
Deferred income tax liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Net assets
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Consolidated Company
=E D H
2007 2006 2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TAET FEx THET
26,825 26,413 — —
448,017 418,904 — —
— — 244,523 244,934
1,543 1,180 — -
476,385 446,497 244,523 244,934
105,274 85,136 — —
195,017 176,753 — —
15,094 25,064 702 739
107,043 89,812 280 71
422,428 376,765 982 810
172,529 119,663 — —
2,565 7,655 — —
154,211 134,494 — —
49,260 41,993 1,040 1,095
22,035 18,015 14 —
400,600 321,820 1,054 1,095
21,828 54,945 (72) (285)
498,213 501,442 244,451 244,649
106,974 135,135 — —
2,858 5,092 — —
13,303 15,794 — —
— — 85,703 73,178
123,135 156,021 85,703 73,178
375,078 345,421 158,748 171,471




As at 31st March, 2007 R-_TEZTLF=A=+—H

Consolidated Company
wE AT
2007 2006 2007 2006
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAET TR FAET
EQUITY IR A fE 2=
Capital and reserves attributable 7~ 2 84 %5 3%
to equity holders of the BARMGR
Company R AR
Share capital &% < 25 42,947 42,947 42,947 42,947
Reserves @ 27 332,131 302,474 115,801 128,524
Shareholders’ equity R 375,078 345,421 158,748 171,471
Lam Kwong Yu Yeung Chui
A w2
Chairman Vice Chairman
- BIFE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial ~ FIFERLEMBHRENBE D -

statements.



For the year ended 31st March, 2007

Balance at 31st March, 2006

Fair value gains
Currency translation differences

Net income recognised directly
in equity
Profit for the year

Total recognised income for
the year

Employee share options scheme
— Value of employee services
Dividends paid

Balance at 31st March, 2007
Balance at 1st April, 2005

Fair value gains
Currency translation differences

Net income recognised
directly in equity
Profit for the year

Total recognised income for
the year

Employee share options scheme
— Value of employee services
— Issue of shares upon exercise

of employee share options

Dividends paid

Balance at 31st March, 2006

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RRREREEARMY
Share capital Reserves Total
&N 1 et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
42,947 302,474 345,421
— 363 363
— 9,476 9,476
— 9,839 9,839
— 32,541 32,541
— 42,380 42,380
42,947 344,854 387,801
— 161 161
— (12,884) (12,884)
42,947 332,131 375,078
42,517 283,130 325,647
— 127 127
— 1,697 1,697
— 1,824 1,824
— 31,128 31,128
— 32,952 32,952
42,517 316,082 358,599
— 693 693
430 2,840 3,270
— (17,1471) (17,1471)
42,947 302,474 345,421
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash inflow generated from operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas income tax paid
Hong Kong income tax refunded
Overseas income tax refunded

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Interest received

Translation adjustments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of employee share options

New long-term bank loans
Repayment of long-term bank loans
New short-term bank loans
Repayment of short-term bank loans

Repayment of capital element of finance lease

obligations
Dividends paid
Translation adjustments

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Note
k=4

28(a)

28(b)

20

2007 2006
HK$/000 HK$’000
TER FAT
118,220 80,931
(18,451) (14,024)
(10,427) (12,706)
(7,949) (4,646)
6,943 —
1,268 969
89,604 50,524
(73,989) (128,301)
150 315
— 12,511
1,147 635
(4,180) (3,780)
(76,872) (118,620)
— 3,270
29,155 142,000
(62,139) (47,210)
342,450 333,737
(286,434) (325,955)
7,717) (10,509)
(12,884) (17,141)
2,319 1,233
4,750 79,425
17,482 11,329
89,307 78,184
— (206)
106,789 89,307
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General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the printing and manufacturing of packaging materials, labels,

paper products and environmentally friendly products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd November,
1992, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered
office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda. The Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1993.

The Company’s Directors regard Best Grade Advisory Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, to be the

ultimate holding company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong Dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements were approved for

issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 9th July, 2007.

Summary of significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements comprise the
consolidated and the Company balance sheets at 31st March,
2007, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting polices and other explanatory notes.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied in all the years

presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). They have been

prepared under the historical cost convention.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where judgements and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note
4. These estimates and judgement affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the year. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ
from those estimates.

(a)  Amendments to and interpretations of published
standards effective in 2006 and relevant to the

Group’s operations

The following amendments and interpretations are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1st January, 2006 and are relevant to the

Group's operations:

o Amendment to HKAS 39 and HKFRS
4, Amendment “Financial Guarantee
Contracts”. This amendment requires
issued financial guarantees, other than
those previously asserted by the entity
to be insurance contracts, to be initially
recognised at their fair value, and
subsequently measured at the higher
of (i) the unamortised balance of the
related fees received and deferred, and
(ii) the expenditure required to settle the
commitment at the balance sheet date.
The adoption of this amendment does not
have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

2.

EEEMRERME (#)

2.1

mRERE (H)
BREBUBRELRNRUEY B HERA
RAETIEEF G EERBERNEKR
REBE SRR FAFHHE -8
BHRERFRBEHBHERE  REE
BTG 3R P ) AR R B Al 5 A P 5E4 3%
BonEHiTERReZENPB®RE
HHRAZRZEERABEHERIARE
ERGBERE URFA2HKERH
XHBE-BEXSHEATOREEEEY
FHRTHNTHEL BEEKRERE
RABRINZF M-

@ R-ZFENFLENBERMAHE
A E B EFEH B E R FT R 2
#

THETEkREREASERE
B BUAR -T2 RF-—HA—
B HERmey st MREA

e BEAEFEABEEAFEIN K
BRI REENFR (K
ERIDIMBEREH ] - %iE
RIRED BEMILIERF B
ERARRE QWM BER
BAREAFERER HiZ
A LA E W ER MOE TR B &
R RE AR RN S
HRABEAERMFERAXZR
= E AR R EZE T H &
ERAVBRRLBENY
@ .

53



54

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a)

Amendments to and interpretations of published
standards effective in 2006 and relevant to the

Group’s operations (Contd)

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining Whether
an Arrangement Contains a Lease”. It
requires the determination of whether an
arrangement is or contains a lease to be
based on the substance of the arrangement.
It requires an assessment of whether: (i)
fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets (the
asset); and (ii) the arrangement conveys a
right to use the asset. The adoption of this
interpretation does not have a significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements.

o HKAS 21 Amendment “Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation”. This amendment
permits inter-company loans denominated
in any currency to be part of a net
investment in a foreign operation, and
therefore any relating exchange difference
to be treated as equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Previously such
loans had to be denominated in the
functional currency of one of the parties
to the transactions. The adoption of this
amendment does not have a significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(b)

New standards and interpretations to existing
standards that are not effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group

The following are the new standards and
interpretations to existing standards that have
been published and are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1st May, 2006 or
later periods that the Group has not early adopted:

. HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2007), HKAS 1 “Amendments to capital
disclosures” (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January, 2007).
HKFRS 7 introduces new disclosures
relating to financial instruments. The Group
has assessed the impact of HKFRS 7 and
the amendment to HKAS 1 and concluded
that the main additional disclosures will
be the sensitivity analysis to market risk
and capital disclosures required by the
amendment of HKAS 1. The Group will
adopt HKFRS 7 and the amendment to
HKAS 1 for annual periods beginning 1st
April, 2007.

U HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (effective
for accounting periods beginning on
or after 1st January, 2009). HKFRS 8
supersedes HKAS 14, “Segment Reporting”,
which requires segments to be reported
based on the Group’s internal reporting
pattern as they represent components of the
Group regularly reviewed by management.
Management considers the adoption of
HKFRS 8 will have no significant impact on
the segment disclosures of the Group. The
Group will apply HKFRS 8 from 1st April,
2009.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(b)

New standards and interpretations to existing
standards that are not effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group (Contd)

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 “Scope of HKFRS 2”
(effective for annual periods beginning
on or after Tst May, 2006). HK(IFRIC)-Int
8 requires consideration of transactions
involving the issuance of equity instruments
— where the identifiable consideration
received is less than the fair value of the
equity instruments issued — to establish
whether or not they fall within the scope of
HKFRS 2. The Group will apply HK(IFRIC)-
Int 8 from 1st April, 2007, but it is not
expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 “Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives” (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st
June, 2006). Management believes that this
interpretation should not have significant
impact on the Group’s accounting policies
as the Group has already assessed whether
embedded derivatives should be separated
using principles consistent with HK(IFRIC)-
Int 9. The Group will apply HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
from 1st April, 2007.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(b)

New standards and interpretations to existing
standards that are not effective and have not

been early adopted by the Group (Contd)

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 “Interim Financial
Reporting and Impairment” (effective
for annual periods beginning on or after
1st November, 2006). HK(IFRIC)-Int 10
prohibits the impairment losses recognised
in an interim period on goodwill,
investments in equity instruments and
investments in financial assets carried at
cost to be reversed at a subsequent balance
sheet date. The Group will apply HK(IFRIC)-
Int 10 from 1st April, 2007, but it is not
expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements.

. HK(FRIC)-Int 11 “HKFRS 2 — Group
and Treasury Share Transfer” (effective
for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st April, 2007). This interpretation
addresses how certain share-based
payment arrangements between group
companies should be accounted for in the
financial statements. The Group will apply
HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 from 1st April, 2007 but
it is not expected to have any significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(c)

(d)

Interpretations to existing standards that are not
yet effective and not relevant to the Group’s

operations

The following interpretation to an existing
standard has been published that is mandatory
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2008 and is not relevant for the Group’s

operations:

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 “Service Concession
Arrangement”. This interpretation sets
out general principles on recognising
and measuring the obligation and related
rights in service concession arrangements.
The Group has no service concession
arrangements and management considers
the interpretation is not relevant to the

Group.

Standards, amendments and interpretations
effective for accounting periods beginning on
st April, 2006 but not relevant to the Group’s

operations

The following standards, amendments and
interpretations are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2006

but are not relevant to the Group’s operations:

U HKAS 19 Amendment “Employee Benefits”

. HKAS 39 Amendment “Cash Flow
Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup

Transactions”

o HKFRS 1 Amendment “First-time adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards”

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 5 “Rights to Interests arising
from Decommissioning, Restoration and

Environmental Rehabilitation Funds”
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(d)  Standards, amendments and interpretations
effective for accounting periods beginning on
Ist April, 2006 but not relevant to the Group’s
operations (Cont’d)

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 6 — “Liabilities arising from
Participating in a Specific Market Waste

Electrical and Electronic Equipment”

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 7 “Applying the Restatement
Approach under HKAS 29, Financial

Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics”

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

made up to 31st March.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than
one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the

Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.2

2.3

Consolidation (Cont'd)

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The
cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is

recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of

the asset transferred.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment that are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of segments

operating in other economic environments.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars
(“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and

presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income

statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of

the transactions); and
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

24

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)
(c) Group companies (Contd)
(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are

recognised as a separate component of

equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities or operations, and of borrowings
and other currency instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences
that were recorded in equity are recognised in the
income statement as part of the gain or loss on

sale.

Leasehold land and land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for leasehold land and
land use rights are accounted for as operating leases.
They are expensed in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the periods of the lease, or when there is
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the income

statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction
in progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the income

statement during the period in which they are incurred.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:
— Buildings 25 to 50 years
— Plant and machinery 5to 10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5to 10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,

and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Construction in progress comprises buildings on which
construction work has not been completed and plant
and machinery on which installation work has not
been completed. It is carried at cost which includes
construction and installation expenditures and other
direct costs less any impairment losses. On completion,
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation
is provided for construction in progress until it is

completed and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and

are recognised in the income statement.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Assets other than goodwill that suffer an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: derivative financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial

recognition.

(a)  Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s derivative instruments do not qualify
for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of
any derivative instruments that do not qualify for
hedge accounting are recognised immediately in
the income statement within “other gains/losses”

in the income statement.

(b)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months in which case they are

classified as non-current assets.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.8

29

2.10

Financial assets (Cont'd)

(b)  Loans and receivables (Cont’d)
Loan and receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment, if any. The Group
assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a

group of financial assets is impaired.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
receivables and other receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties
of the debtors, probability that the debtors will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered indicators
that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The amount of the provision is recognised in the income
statement within general and administrative expenses.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance for receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against general and administrative expenses in the

income statement.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction

from the proceeds.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Transaction costs are
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or
financial liability, including fees and commissions
paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies
by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and
transfer taxes and duties. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest

method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the

balance sheet.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.15

2.16

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is

settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be

utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the balance sheet date. Employee entitlements to
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised

until the time of the leave.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
2.16 Employee benefits (Cont'd)

(ii)

(iii)

Retirement benefits

Group companies participate in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement benefit
scheme under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group has
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contribution for post-retirement benefits beyond

these fixed contributions

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds. The Group pays contributions
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employment costs
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is

available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses. It recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past

practice that has created a constructive obligation.

EESTHEME (&)
216 ETEF (&)
(i) REKEF

EERA2N%ZEREMHFRIK
BHGE - REHRKTEELAEE
MEBYEBELTEEHERZRK
CEE c AEBYEETHBER
TFAEZETHERUINGRIKE
& T A E AR o

I -mMmBEEREARE R A
AREAERESMIEHFK - A%
iz S B MEEEDLH
R —EXXNERE AEBELE
E—TEEMNRK - R PHER
REERAR -BNHAER/E
B EARMB SRR A RS
REBABMR -

(iii)  TEALET &/
AEBBTEAERAEBRAL -
EHEEHNETHRBEEL S BUHE
EETR  NEBMGICAT RS -



Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)
2.16 Employee benefits (Cont'd)

(iv)  Share-based compensation
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted, excluding the impact of
any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
become exercisable. At each balance sheet date,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable.
It recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the income statement, and
a corresponding adjustment to equity over the

remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium when

the options are exercised.

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised

for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the

same class of obligations may be small.

2.

EESTHEME (&)
216 EITEF (&)

(iv) UBRGZITHB 2
SERE-—BURELZR  UKRH
STRMEHMAE - BEERBERG
MEFzEBRENATFEERER
BEIZE BRI TFTHAIIES
TR EN2EMBHEND
FEEETE (CTREEAIETISE
EHERTHREMEENTE IR
Mg h RIHEERBRIEEZE) - £ R
ETEEA TAITFEAERESE
By JEMSMHEE R FIHRETFMA
—HEBE -RNZHEER AKEH(E
FTE BN T AT AV EARE SR B
FriEM et c IER] R AT E
(w0 B ) B s R AR - ATl
VEBHRNERAESELEE

EHFREMBEEMNERESRS
PR 1T i HA A B AR R (|
B) RBMmEE -

2.17 B1E
AEBREERENSHEMELAREBAE
ARETET RAEFTEFERAD
NENMET: @B & S miED
B - THARSEBBEERESE -

WEZERUNEE MEBEEMTR
HERMAT M RIRIE B AR B
EZR-BEER-BEEEMNAR2EEM
— {18 B A9 AR RE B R LAY AT RE MR (K -
TRER R -

69



70

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

217

2.18

Provisions (Cont'd)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as

interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown, net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and

discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below. The amount of revenue
is not considered to be reliably measured until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)  Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectibility of the related receivables is

reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion

basis using the effective interest method.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.19

2.20

2.21

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction, installation or production of an
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs
are charged to the income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.

Operating leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-

line basis over the period of the lease.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot
be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs
so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as

a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group. Contingent assets are not recognised but are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow

is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont'd)

2.22

2.23

Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee (a type of insurance contract) is
a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the original or modified terms
of a debt instruments. The Group does not recognise
liabilities for financial guarantees at inception, but
performs a liability adequacy test at each balance sheet
date by comparing its net liability regarding the financial
guarantee with the amount that would be required if
the financial guarantee were to result in a present legal
or constructive obligation. If the liability is less than
its present legal or constructive obligation amount, the
entire difference is recognised in the income statement

immediately.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders
are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are

approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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3. Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and

cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of
the Group and uses derivative financial instruments to
hedge certain foreign exchange risk exposures. Because
of the simplicity of the financial structure and the current
operations of the Group, no other hedging activities are
undertaken except for some forward contracts to partially

hedge the Group’s foreign exchange risk.

(a)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from the exposure of various currencies
against Hong Kong Dollar, including the Chinese
Renminbi, United States Dollar and Singapore
Dollar. Such foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities, and net investments in operations

in Mainland China and Singapore.

To manage foreign exchange risk arising from
certain future commercial transactions and
recognised liabilities, the Group uses forward
contracts transacted with external financial
institutions to partially hedge against such foreign

exchange risk.

Chinese Renminbi is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market and its
exchange rate is determined by the People’s Bank
of China.
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3.

Financial risk management (Cont'd)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
deposits with banks and derivative financial
instruments, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables and
committed transactions. For sales transactions,
risk control assesses the credit quality of the
customers, taking into account their financial
position, past experience and other factors.
Derivative counter parties and cash transactions
are limited to high-credit-quality financial

institutions.

The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash, and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group’s management
aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping

committed credit lines available.

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

Except for the bank deposits as at 31st March,
2007 of HK$17,416,000 held at effective interest
rates ranging from 1.95% to 3.63% per annum,
the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in

market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from short-
term and long-term borrowings. Borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest-rate risk. The Group has made use
of the lower cost Hong Kong Dollar loan facilities
to finance its Chinese Renminbi-denominated

commitments in Mainland China.
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3.

Financial risk management (Cont'd)

3.2 Fair value estimation
The fair values of forward currency contracts are
determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the

balance sheet date.

The carrying values less impairment provisions of trade
receivables and payables are a reasonable approximation
of their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities
for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar

financial instruments.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below:

(@  Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will increase the depreciation charge
where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives
and it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives and actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and residual values and

therefore depreciation expense in future periods.
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4.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Contd)

(b)

()

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
leasehold land and land use rights

Property, plant and equipment, leasehold land and land
use rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount
are determined based on value-in-use calculations or
market valuations. These calculations require the use of

judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
or net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.
If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections,
it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the

income statement.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and variable selling expenses. These
estimates are based on current market conditions and
the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor
actions in response to industry cycles. Management

reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet date.
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4.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Contd)

(d)

(e)

Trade, bills and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade, bills and other receivables based
on an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management reassesses the provision at each

balance sheet date.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are certain transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made. Deferred income tax assets
relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses
are recognised when management considers it is likely
that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred tax assets and income tax charges in the period

in which such estimates are changed.
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4.

5.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Contd)

®

Employee benefits — share-based payments

The determination of the fair value of share options
granted requires estimates in determining, among other
things, the expected volatility of the share price, the
expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for
the life of the option, and the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable as stated in Note 26.
Where the outcome of the number of options that are
exercisable is different, such difference will impact the
income statement in the subsequent remaining vesting

periods of the relevant share options.

Segment information

(@

(b)

Revenue is analysed as follows:

Sales of packaging materials, labels, paper

4. EXRGFEFRHE (F)

®

BEEFAN —UROGBER AR
B TE R R R B X T (B 7 Y SE26R
REMERERBORBEE  H5HM
A ) BB~ i P R 1T M 3 A0 S L B
RREAATIIENEREHRESER -
HEFRA FITENBEREREBMRE
HERR B EAHBEREARNGER
HFEm KRR -

5. 7EESR

(@

WEBEYH  BE

products and environmentally friendly MmN
products IRRE M
Others Hity

Primary reporting format — business segment

The Company is an investment holding company. lIts
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the printing and
manufacturing of packaging materials, labels, paper
products and environmentally friendly products. No
business segment information is provided as substantially
all of the assets, sales and contribution to the Group’s
results are attributable to the printing and manufacturing
of packaging materials, labels, paper products and

environmentally friendly products.

(b)

WAZBMME :
2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAET
1,116,374 902,688
11,647 4,366
1,128,021 907,054

FTEZHRERX —XBIE

RRB T —HREZER QT - KK B QA
TE2REERREEREME R
MEHERERRER BRAKEZ#
BE HEREEHRIOBEBREDR
REGEREME BH #ARERRER
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5. Segment information (Cont'd) 5.

(0

Secondary reporting format — geographical
segments

The Group primarily operates in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Singapore.

Analysis by geographical location is as follows:

Revenue' A

— Hong Kong and Mainland China — BB RPEA M
— Singapore —

— United States of America — =

— Others — H

! Revenue by geographical location is determined by the destination
of shipments/deliveries of merchandise.

Total assets HEE
Hong Kong and Mainland China BB RPBEAH
Singapore 0

Total assets are allocated based on where the assets are

located.

Capital expenditure BEAXMX

Hong Kong and Mainland China BB KRB BEAH
Singapore 0

Capital expenditure is allocated based on where the

assets are located.

TEER (&)
© REZHFX —HEHE

AREBTZREE B A &%

BREDZ DWW

2007 2006
HK$/000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
488,078 388,015
140,103 125,985
339,482 293,932
160,358 99,122
1,128,021 907,054

! LAY R & 5 2 WA - TR R da (58 2 B B3

TRE *
2007 2006

HK$'000 HK$’000

TER TAET

813,489 752,095

85,324 71,167

898,813 823,262

BEEREEMEME®RE S -

2007 2006
HK$/000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
72,303 128,253
1,686 48
73,989 128,301

BARZIREEMREME D -
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Other gains — net 6. HftWz: — F8
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Net exchange gain B W R 414 1,332
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BELREZ (518)
equipment Wz R R 21 277
393 1,609
Expenses by nature 7. EBEMEESZHEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution CHAHEERK HEMDHEBRE —KET
costs, and general and administrative expenses are analysed as HEAYXHSTWT :
follows:
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work &k M E R R FE
in progress 2 1,357 (13,789)
Raw materials and consumables used FEM B REFEmE A 581,327 483,620
Sub-contracting charges mT&A 40,302 41,856
Repairs and maintenance HERE 11,609 8,960
Freight and transportation B B A 36,054 28,403
Employment costs (including directors’ emoluments) 8 T A (BEE S S )
(Note 9) (Bt %9) 223,817 172,081
Operating lease rentals of premises charged by HRMELERY 2HEXNT
— third parties — =% 12,255 11,432
— related parties (Note 32) —BE AL (M5E32) 58 58
Provision for/(Reversal of) impairment of receivables & Ui BE 5%l (& £ 8 (@14 ) 19,280 (6,295)
Write-down of inventories T EERE 2,344 1,000
Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights 8 & + b & + b {55 8 # & 35 487 2,752
Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment Hi#% - BE L EE 2T E
— owned assets —BEAE 54,880 43,894
— assets held under finance leases — U BRONFEECEE 2,580 4,044
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 2D B & 1,674 1,499
Other expenses HAh iz 81,461 62,147

1,069,485 841,662




Finance costs — net

5= 90N

81

R

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BERIFRNBREEERE L 17,917 13,230
within five years A

Interest element of finance leases B84 2 F & 534 794
Interest income from bank deposits R1TTF KA S WA (1,147) (635)
17,304 13,389

Employment costs (including directors’ emoluments) BEIRAX (BREEEHE)
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
Salaries, wages and allowances e ITEREM 196,571 148,782
Discretionary bonus BHHEREZIEL 8,973 5,712
Pension costs — defined contribution plans (i) RIRBCAR — FRE HRGETEG) 10,570 9,020
Provision for long service payments RERB S 2 BE — 135
Share-based payments f&% 5 S~ B & 161 693
Other welfare and benefits 8 T H b 48 F 7,542 7,739
223,817 172,081

Note:

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), which is a
defined contribution scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, each of the Group (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings
as defined under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employee are
subject to a cap of HK$1,000 and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, group companies
operating in Mainland China contribute to state-sponsored retirement plans
for their employees. The employees contribute approximately 5% to 8% of
their basic salaries, while the group companies contribute approximately
8% to 20% of the basic salaries of their employees and have no further
obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the group company
operating in Singapore contributes to the Singapore Central Provident
Fund, a statutory pension scheme. The group company and its employees
contribute 20% and 13% of the basic salaries of the employees,
respectively. The employer’s and employees’ contributions are subject to a
cap of monthly earnings of SGD4,500 (equivalent to HK$22,000).
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10. Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments 10. EERESHRTHRAEMS

(@) Directors’ emoluments @ ESMS
The remuneration of each director of the Company for TETLF=A=T—HIEFESES
the year ended 31st March, 2007 is set out below: ZHEFBENT
Pension

costs—defined
Discretionary  contribution  Share-based

Salaries and bonuses plans payments
Fees allowances HHRE B KR AR— BB XA Total
Name of Director BEEpE e FHeRER 2R REMKGE e At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHERT FEx FEx FHEx FHEx FEx
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu M4 138 2,940 70 66 32 3,246
Ms. Yeung Chui BRLt 88 2,924 62 51 25 3,150
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus BREL L 88 1,104 45 29 1 1,277
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles SR & 88 1,398 59 37 11 1,593
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Christopher James Williams Christopher James
Williams %t 4 260 — — — — 260
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFERITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PRI S 260 — — — — 260
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, P HMEAFHL 150 — — — — 150
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BHRIERE 150 — — — — 150

1,222 8,366 236 183 79 10,086




10. Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments 10. ESRERITHRAEME (&)
(Contd)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd) @ EEM<E (&)
The remuneration of each director of the Company for ZETERFZRA=FT—HLFESES
the year ended 31st March, 2006 is set out below: ZEEEBmT
Pension
costs-defined
Discretionary  contribution  Share-based
Salaries and bonuses plans payments
Fees allowances BHRE BARE A— Bz Total
Name of Director EENE ue HeREHR ZRHA REM/ARGE e Fob
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET FET FER FERx FET
Executive Directors WITESE
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MY S A 138 2,940 325 61 — 3,464
Ms. Yeung Chui BREL+ 88 2,911 273 51 — 3,323
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus AR 88 1,056 209 28 143 1,524
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles AL L 88 1,307 289 35 143 1,862
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Christopher James Williams Christopher James
Williams 5 & 260 - - — — 260
Independent Non-Executive Directors WYERITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRI 260 — — — — 260
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, JP BWMEL FH 1 150 — — — — 150
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny ERELE 150 — - — — 150
1,222 8,214 1,09 175 286 10,993
The share-based payments represent charges to the BERBERESSESRTE RHH

income statement of the fair value of the share options

under the share option scheme measured at the

respective grant dates, regardless of whether the share

options are or will be exercised or not.

No director waived any emolument during the year

ended 31st March, 2007 (2006: Nil).

e sEREREBRESS  ZTA
EH AU FEREERPIIERS -

TETEF A=t RLEFERAHE
EERREAMe (CZETRFE)-
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10. Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments

11.

(Cont'd)

(b)  Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include four (2006: four) directors whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented

10, EERERTHRAEHE (&)

b)) BUBREHAL
A E&EHALT A (ZTTNF
M) ARAREE  EBeC#HRN Lt
Mo -BN ENHMEKRBE T AL

above. The emoluments paid/payable to the remaining AT
individual were as follows:

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Basic salaries and allowances HEAH & KER 1,112 1,020
Discretionary bonuses BHRTEZIELA 45 184
Share-based payment P& 32 15 B & 11 18
1,168 1,222

(c)  During the year ended 31st March, 2007, no emoluments
were paid by the Company to any of the directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office (2006: Nil).

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2016. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British
Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International Business
Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly,

are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5%
(2006: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in or

derived from Hong Kong.

Subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China
are subject to Mainland China Enterprise Income Tax at rates
ranging from 15% to 33% for the year (2006: 15% to 33%).
In accordance with the applicable law and regulations, the
Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China as wholly
foreign owned enterprises or contractual joint ventures are
entitled to full exemption from Enterprise Income Tax for the
first two years and a 50% reduction in Enterprise Income Tax
for the next three years, commencing from the first profitable
year or 1st January, 2008, whichever is earlier, after offsetting

unexpired tax losses carried forward from previous years.
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11.

Income tax expense (Cont'd)

The subsidiary established in Singapore is subject to Singapore
Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 18% (2006: 20%,).

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income

statement represents:

Current income tax expense
— Hong Kong profits tax
— Mainland China Enterprise Income Tax
— Singapore Corporate Income Tax

Deferred taxation (Note 24)

11. FrEHMx (&)
7 D03 PR 37 2 B B R B4R T AN 3 R4S B B R
18% (Z T ZT/NEF 1 20% ) M F s ¥R 15
o
RiFERERTPHBRHTIBRE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT FAT
BNEARTS iR 2
— BERNEH 5,724 17,573
— AT EMEH 2,949 3,602
— XN ERER 3,055 2,850
11,728 24,025
EERTE (M 3524) (2,644) (1,541)
9,084 22,484

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average

tax rate applicable to profits of the group companies as follows:

Profit before income tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to
profits in the respective countries/jurisdictions

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred
tax assets

Additional provision in respect of prior years

Tax charge

Weighted average domestic applicable tax rates

BAREEZRB AN Mt E 2 IR ERAARE
BERBMERRZNETFOREFEZ RS

HMAEMER  HHERWT:

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
B 50 A & A 41,625 53,612
BAERR &2 EAFEHER
AECHEH 6,693 8,917
AR A (152) (630)
A B = 2,578 1,567
KR ZEXHREELE 675 2,455
F R AERER
FEERIEE E (710) (988)
BAEFTEREEN — 11,163
k2 Bi1E 9,084 22,484
D0 15 5 B R R 16.1% 16.6%
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12.

13.

Profit attributable to equity holders 12. BBERHEAEBRMERR
The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders includes a EmRBEARGRAE N 2B RAAAKA
profit of HK$Nil (2006: HK$544,000) dealt with in the financial NEBZaMNEEZEAT(ZEZNF EFF
statements of the Company. 544,000/ 7T ) ©
Earnings per share 13. BREF
Basic HAK
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERBANDRFARRAEZHFE ARG
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted BANREETEBRINETHHTHE -
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2007 2006

Profit attributable to equity holders of the RRBIEEFAA

Company (HK$’000) FEMREF (F&T) 32,541 31,128
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in & 317 % 3 i% hi #

issue (‘000) T8 (TR 429,476 428,426
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) A% Z AR ZF GEAL D 7.58 7.27




13.

14.

Earnings per share (Cont'd) 13. BRER (&)
Diluted s
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the ERBERMNIEBEMEAEEEE LB
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding RESRABRDHTLTBRMBETIEEE -
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. BIFBRERTEIR TRIT R0 AW — &S
Shares issuable under the employee share option scheme are ENECEEEBR - E AN EARTRE
the only dilutive potential ordinary shares. A calculation is BREMIMSRABEZEREE THRATE
made in order to determine the number of shares that could (BARAFROTFHEAMEEE) WE KRG
have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average gE - FMFAEZROBESEBRRITEER
daily market share price of the Company’s shares) based on BMEEBEITZRHEE L& -
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to the
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
2007 2006
Profit attributable to equity holders of the EreREERTAAZ
Company used to determine diluted earnings &5 B AR
per share (HK$'000) wA (FETT) 32,541 31,128
Weighted average number of ordinary BT T BARINE
shares in issue (‘000) Fig (Fa%) 429,476 428,426
Adjustments for share options (‘000) BERRAE 2 T E (TAR) 40 467
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for &1 8 & I& # 5% & 7| ft F % 18 5%
diluted earnings per share (‘000) ke g (F&) 429,516 428,893
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) FREERF GEW) 7.58 7.26
Dividends 14. BRE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Interim dividends — HK$0.015 HI R B — BB .51
(2006: HK$0.015) per share (ZZ2ZRE - gREB15) 6,442 6,442
Proposed final dividends — HK$0.015 BOR R B S — & BB #1510
(2006: HK$0.015) per share (ZZTRF : GRBE1.5M) 6,442 6,442

12,884 12,884
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14.

15.

Dividends (Cont'd) 14. BE (&)
A final dividend is proposed in respect of the year ended 31st HE_ZTZTLF=A=+t—HLEFEZHIK
March, 2007 of HK1.5 cents per share, amounting to a total RKHEBREAESHR SR BN RERENE
dividend of approximately HK$6,442,000, to be approved 6,442,000 7T - KREERRBAFAGRER
by the Company’s shareholders at the Company’s upcoming REY WEHE-_ZTTLHF=-A=1+—80H
Annual General Meeting. This proposed final dividend has not BHERTE|ERE L ERRKRS  BES5EEE
been reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated ZETHF=RA=T—HALEFEASREEZ
financial statements as at 31st March, 2007, but has been o he e
reflected as an appropriation of distributable reserves during
the year ended 31st March, 2007.
Leasehold land and land use rights 15. HELHR T HERE
The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights AEEREELH R T FEAENERIEEN
represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net book RETHERERHEREE 20T :
amounts are analysed as follows:
Consolidated
wE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
In Hong Kong held on: REBHEH
Leases of between 10 to 50 years N F10E505F 2 4 3,370 3,458
In Mainland China held on: A B A REE
Land use rights of between 10 to 50 years N F10F =504 2 £ iy F F#E 23,455 22,955
26,825 26,413
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Beginning of the year F 1) 26,413 28,623
Amortisation 55 (487) (2,752)
Translation adjustments ER AR 899 542
End of the year FR 26,825 26,413

Amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated income

statement is analysed as follows:

Cost of sales $H & AR
General and administrative expenses —MRRITE R X

At 31st March, 2007, leasehold land with a net book amount
of approximately HK$2,110,000 (2006: HK$2,166,000) was
mortgaged as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note
31).

REGARBERTHRBZBIHEAS  2OT

2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$’000
TExT TET
88 88

399 2,664

487 2,752

RZEE+E=A=+—-BEEFEY
2,110,000/ 7T (ZZFZF /54 : 2,166,000/ 7T ) Z
HELTHAEASEEERAEEZHBERA (I
5£31) ©



16. Property, plant and equipment

At Tst April, 2005
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount
Year ended 31st March, 2006

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2006
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount
Year ended 31st March, 2007

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount
At 31st March, 2007
Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

R-ZZZRFMNA—A
XA
it E

fREDFE

BE-ZTAE
ZR=+—-BLFE
FHUEEFE

AE

nE

e

EH AR

FRIEEFE

FOREFE
NE

nE

&

L ES

ER AR

FRIREFE
RZBZLHE=A=+—H
XA

RFHE

fREDFE

16. WE -BERRE

Consolidated

e

Plantand  Furniture and Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
BF e KARRE BE EERIR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET THET
84,640 465,491 35,665 11,785 22,073 619,654
(12,676) (237,992) (27,037) (8,220) — (285,925)
71,964 227,499 8,628 3,565 22,073 333,729
71,964 227,499 8,628 3,565 22,073 333,729
32,540 50,699 13,191 1,170 30,701 128,301
(3,237) (39,023) (4,444) (1,234) — (47,938)
— (23) 7) (8) — (38)
981 2,721 144 30 974 4,850
102,248 241,873 17,512 3,523 53,748 418,904
118,271 519,471 49,063 12,939 53,748 753,492
(16,023)  (277,598) (31,551) (9,416) — (334,588)
102,248 241,873 17,512 3,523 53,748 418,904
102,248 241,873 17,512 3,523 53,748 418,904
7,884 38,164 2,167 1,644 24,130 73,989
(4,051) (46,856) (5,138) (1,415) — (57,460)
— M () (168) — (171)
28,155 47,172 — — (75,327) —
3,389 7,537 469 149 1,211 12,755
137,625 287,889 15,008 3,733 3,762 448,017
158,030 617,206 52,024 14,115 3,762 845,137
(20,405) (329,317) (37,016) (10,382) — (397,120)
137,625 287,889 15,008 3,733 3,762 448,017
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16. Property, plant and equipment (Contd) 16. W% -BERRE (&)
(@)  Depreciation expense recognised in the consolidated @ NEEWHRRTPERZZITERST o

income statement is analysed as follows:

Cost of sales 4 & KA

Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER
General and administrative expenses — B RITHFEX
Construction in progress mainly represents factories (b)

and office buildings and plant and machinery under

construction in Mainland China.

At 3Tst March, 2007, buildings with a net book value (c)
of approximately HK$2,554,000 (2006: HK$2,094,000)

were mortgaged as collateral for the Group’s banking

facilities (Note 31).

Finance leases (d)
Certain machineries above are held under finance leases.

Details of these assets are:

Cost B AR
Less: Accumulated depreciation B RETITE
Net book value REFEE

Depreciation for the year RERHFE

ms

2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
52,442 44,577
392 317
4,626 3,044
57,460 47,938

Fe i TR B 46 2 o B 0 0 SR R )
ERBAEET -

RZZEZTLFZA=+—8 EEFEE
#92,554,00078 7T (ZZT T 754 ¢ 2,094,000
BLIZEFREASEGHEREEZH
B (M EE31) -

IR
EMETHEDRVBROFE - B
BEZFRBOT:

Consolidated

RE

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER TET
26,119 39,496
(9,140) (11,813)
16,979 27,683
2,580 4,044




17.

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries 17.

— Company

Investment in unlisted shares, at cost JE EWRRD - AR
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE s Bt B A /) 5B
Less: Accumulated impairment losses W BEDRE R

Amounts due from subsidiaries represent equity funding by
the Company to the respective subsidiaries and are measured
in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for

investment in subsidiaries.

0 DL S Y 1 e
— KA

2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHEX TET
91,449 91,449
165,696 166,107
257,145 257,556
(12,622) (12,622)
244,523 244,934

JRE LS B B8 2 R FRIR Y AR X R 1) A5 R B R A R4
HZBRABESABARBRMBEARKRE LS
TR ETE -
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17.

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries

— Company (Cont'd)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2007

were:

Name of company

AREE

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd.
Starlite Printers Holdings Cook
Islands Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual Communication
Limited
EXEEEEERAF

Star Union Limited

EBRARRAT

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings)
Limited

Starlite International Development
Limited

Place of incorporation
and operations
AR 2

R E

British Virgin Islands
ABHARES

Cook Islands
Bris

Singapore
N

British Virgin Islands
HBEERRES

Hong Kong
e

Hong Kong/
Mainland China
BB/ HENM

British Virgin Islands
REREARES

British Virgin Islands
REREARES

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

EBERRHES
B

Issued and
fully paid share
capital

2T
RBRBRAE

Us$2
2FETT

US$200
2003 T

$$8,759,396
8,759,396
N T

US$20,000
20,0003 7T

HK$2,000,000
2,000,000/ 7T

HK$2
28T

US$1
1%7T

US$1
1%€7T

US$1
1%7T

— AR T (&)

R_ZEZLF=ZA=+—B TENBEBRFAE

B

Percentage of equity
interest held

FiEREED L
Directly Indirectly
HE LF:3
100% -
100% -
100% -
50% 50%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%

17. RIBRARAZREREWKE

Principal activities

EX-3 33

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMBENR R AR &
HE

Investment holding

REERK

Production and

distribution of licensed

products
E

Property holding
ESR=RZES
Investment holding

RAEER

Investment holding

RAEER

Procurement agency

RBRIERS



17.

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries

— Company (Cont'd)

Name of company

DREE

Starlite International Marketing
Services Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited
EEFEHHIEARAR

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology
Consultancy Limited

Starlite Development (China) Limited
ENERE (PE)AERAR

Starlite Paper Products Limited
ERERmABRATR

Starlite Printers Limited

ENREIRIBR QA

— AR T (&)

Issued and
Place of incorporation fully paid share
and operations capital Percentage of equity
&t 18 AR 32 BT interest held
S E 3 R R R FriEREE DL
Directly Indirectly
HE GE
British Virgin Islands/ ~ US$1 — 100%
Hong Kong 17T
KBHERRS
5%
Hong Kong HK$3,230,000 - 100%
HE ordinary
3,230,0007% 7T
HK$170,000 — —
non-voting
deferred (ii)
170,000/ 7T
BIRERE
i FE A (i)
Hong Kong HK$200 — 100%
e 200/ 7T
British Virgin Islands ~ US$1 — 100%
ABHARES 1%7T
Hong Kong HK$200 — 100%
= 2007 75
Hong Kong/ HK$1,738,000 — 100%
Mainland China ordinary
B/ PEAM 1,738,000/ 7T
BB
HK$262,000 — -
non-voting
deferred (ii)
262,000/ 7T
EREEER
HE B 43 (i)
Hong Kong HK$2,700,000 - 100%
HE ordinary
2,700,0007% 7T
Rl
HK$2,300,000 — —
non-voting
deferred (ii)
2,300,000/ 7T
BREEE

FE B AR (i)

93

17. RIB AR ZREREWKE

Principal activities

FTEXEHK

Procurement agency

RERERY

Provision of design
and colour
separation services

R R &R

Provision of management
services

eHE R RS

Holding of trade and
service marks

HEESERRBEE

Trading of paper products
MEHRES

Production of paper
products

MmEE

Printing and trading of
packaging materials

BEMBERLE S
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17.

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries

— Company (Cont'd)

Name of company

DEERE

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI)
Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited
EXENR (R E)BRAF

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (i)
EXENR ORI B R A F ()

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (i)
E SR (B M) B RAR ()

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions (Holdings)
Limited

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental
Friendly Center, Limited (i)
BMEXRBRRPOLBERDE ()

Greenworks International Limited

HETREERERAR

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited (i)
HEMEAZEITXARQF ()

Place of incorporation
and operations
LA 3L

S E 3

British Virgin Islands
HBEEBARES

British Virgin Islands
HBEERRES

Mainland China
B A

Mainland China
B A

British Virgin Island
REREARES

British Virgin Islands
REBREARES

Mainland China
A i

Hong Kong
=

Mainland China
A i

— AR T (&)

Issued and
fully paid share

capital Percentage of equity

BT interest held

RHBEREK FiERET D
Directly Indirectly

BHE Sk

us$1 100%

17T

Us$100 100%

1003 7T

US$8,000,000 100%

8,000,000% 7T

US$17,044,489 100%

17,044,489% 7T

US$256,420 100%

256,4203 7T

Us$1 100%

1%7T

US$6,000,000 100%

6,000,0003 7T

HK$2 100%

28T

US$6,000,000 100%

6,000,000 7T

17. RIBRARAZREREWKE

Principal activities

FTEXEHK

Investment holding

RAEERK

Investment holding

RAEERK

Printing of packaging
materials and production of
paper products

BEMB REREE

Printing of packaging
materials and production of
paper products
BEMBRAREE

Investment holding

RAEER

Investment holding

RAEER

Production of
environmentally friendly
and other paper products

EERRREMARER

Investment holding and
trading of environmentally
friendly and other paper
products
REERRIRR R H MR
BERES

Printing of packaging
materials and production of
paper products
BEMMRMAREE



17.

18.

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries

— Company (Cont'd)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

All subsidiaries incorporated in Mainland China, except for Guangzhou
Starlite Environmental Friendly Center, Limited and Shenzhen
Xiangguangmei Gifts Co., Ltd., are wholly foreign owned companies
to be operated for 50 years up to 2042 to 2053. Guangzhou Starlite
Environmental Friendly Center, Limited is a contractual joint venture
established in Mainland China to be operated for 50 years up to 2044.
Under the joint venture agreement, the joint venture partner is entitled to a
pre-determined fee and is not entitled to share any profit or required to bear
any loss of the joint venture. Shenzhen Xiangguangmei Gifts Co., Ltd. is an
equity joint venture established in Mainland China to be operated for 20
years up to 2017.

The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These shares
have no voting rights, are not entitled to dividends unless the net profit of
the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000 and are not entitled
to any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of HK$50,000,000,000
has been distributed by the relevant company to the holders of its ordinary
shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any
time during the year ended 31st March, 2007.

Inventories

Raw materials B i
Work-in-progress bk IR
Finished goods 2K o

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of sales amounted to HK$879,034,000 (2006:
HK$699,549,000).

During the ended 31st March, 2007, the Group recorded
a write-down of inventories of HK$2,344,000 (2006:
HK$1,000,000), which was included in cost of sales.

The carrying amount of inventories that were pledged as

security for trust receipts bank loan arrangements amounted to
approximately HK$49,391,000 as at 31st March, 2007 (2006:
HK$13,234,000) (Note 31).

17. RHBRAZRERERRIR

— AT (&)

Bt -

O BEMERERELERADRAIE LR
RAFSN BRI 2 2 K B2 5 BINE
2EAH MEFBARTE EE-TMoFE-
FRZF L HARARRSLBRADSEFED
BRTZAKGELE SEFWEE HE-
M AL BEATEE ARBHTRE S
EEBZNE HEBAEAELET EARNKE
BREABR- AN EXERRERDANERER
BRTZARGELY GEEH-+F HE-Z
7JEQE °

(i) HEERERBTERMEIFEAEERSE - LERH
IS AR BrIEA B A R 2 A5 F R #50,000,000,000
B BAREABREZERE  MABLRIERE -
NERZEEASR  RIFFADAMYLBARKRRE
2 9 & 3% %50,000,000,0007% JT ©

EMBARRBE_EELF=A=+—H
TFEAEARBEOESHTEEER -

18. &EE

Consolidated
we
2007
HK$’000
FET

2006
HK$’000
FTAT

59,671
22,110
23,493

38,176
29,975
16,985

105,274 85,136

7 &k AN 4 ££879,034,0008 L (Z 2 Z
7N4F £ 699,549,000/ JT ) MR A F S 10 7
A E AR -

R-ZEEZ+LF=A=+—HLEFER
N5 B 8115 % 85 15 B 852,344,000 7T
(= Z = /X% : 1,000,000 7T ) -+ It B &
EAAEEREF -

R-_ZEZT+FZA=+—H E@EEHA
49,391,000 7T (= T Z /X 4F © 13,234,000
B 2 ERERRBRITERTHE
AR (HE31) -
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19. Trade and bills receivable 19.

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally ranging
from 30 to 120 days.

The aging analysis of trade and bills receivable is as follows:

ESEWURREERE
SEATEEEEHR —MAB0KEN0KRT

ki

BIRWERNMRBEZREDTMOT

Consolidated

wE

2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000

TR FHET

1 to 90 days 190K 168,780 152,485
91 to 180 days 91E180K 22,759 22,185
181 to 365 days 181E365K 22,583 5,694
Over 365 days TR 38365K 4,022 277
218,144 180,641
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables B EM IR KR R AR R (23,127) (3,888)
195,017 176,753

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable approximate

their fair values.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade
and bills receivable, as the Group has a large number of

customers, internationally dispersed.

The Group has recognised a provision of HK$19,280,000 (2006:
reversal of HK$6,295,000) for the impairment of its trade
and bills receivable, which has been included in general and

administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

EWEZERAEEENREEOESNERF
e

MRASENEFPSBRTRBEER BRI
RRERBUEEEEP ZEAR -

FEEBRESIERERLREERERE
1ammm%n%:§§x¢:@%m%mm
BT mEE /AR AREREZRPZ
— M RITHAS -



19.

20.

Trade and bills receivable (Cont’d)

The Group’s trade and bills receivable were denominated in the

following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars
United States Dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Singapore Dollars
Others

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand RITERKE
Short-term bank deposits REIRITER

19. ESRWRERRERREE (FE)
REBZBHEWERLEBEATIEESIE :
Consolidated
ma
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
BT 59,043 45,528
EVM 113,705 84,373
AR 31,517 37,064
oo T 12,979 13,623
HApb 900 53
218,144 180,641
200 HEkREEEE
Consolidated Company
wa A
2007 2006 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAT FERT FAET
89,627 76,958 280 71
17,416 12,854 — —
107,043 89,812 280 71
REZZTZEFZA=F+—RHRITER EHR

As at 31st March, 2007 the effective interest rate on cash at
bank, short-term bank deposits ranged from 1.95% to 3.63%
(2006: 1.85% to 2.91%). These short-term bank deposits have

an average maturity of two months (2006: two months).

S\ ZEZT
TERZERFEAEFBIIEEIE(ZE
ESN FE185EZE291FE) @ thE R EIRTT
GREHIBEAMBAA (ZEE R F : M@
A

+
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20.

Cash and cash equivalents (Cont'd) 200 RERAEEE (H)
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following RehREEENRATEEIIE
currencies:
Consolidated Company
®E ]
2007 2006 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET THET THET
Hong Kong Dollars BT 24,293 20,268 280 71
Chinese Renminbi AR 15,365 12,941 — —
United States Dollars ESS 42,207 15,786 — —
Euro & 7T 1,745 26,948 — —
Singapore Dollars o0 ot 23,086 13,574 — —
Others Hiy 347 295 — —
107,043 89,812 280 71

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB
are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion
of these Chinese Renminbi denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of funds out of Mainland China
is subject to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations

promulgated by the Mainland China Government.

Cash and bank overdrafts include the following for purposes of

the cash flow statements:

Cash and cash equivalents RehkReEE
Bank overdrafts RITEX

AEEUAREIEZREMASEEIER
RAEPEBERMZRTT - BARBHRERINE RE
i AR B 3 28 2 AR B 3 AT BT AR A 2 SN B
HIRA R ARBIEEE -

RenBrPRELRITELBRE

2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TET
107,043 89,812
(254) (505)

106,789 89,307




21. Borrowings

Non-current
Long-term bank loans

Current
Current portion of long-term bank loans
Short-term bank loans
Trust receipts import bank loans
Bank overdrafts

The carrying amounts of all bank borrowings approximate their

fair value.

The maturity of borrowings is as follows:

Within 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years

SE BN Ef

RHRITER

BN A

21. @&

Consolidated

RHRITER A H

5EHIRITER

EtlEENRITER

RITEX

1F "
NF1Z:2%F
N 22549
B iEsF

=e
2007 2006
HK$/000 HK$/000
FET FA&T
106,974 135,135
54,277 59,100
68,607 46,824
49,391 13,234
254 505
172,529 119,663
279,503 254,798

FERTERNEEENESEREQATE-

BEZRHAMT

Consolidated

" 7 %
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TET
172,529 119,663
54,279 59,100
52,494 76,035
201 —
279,503 254,798
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21. Borrowings (Cont'd)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in

the following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars
Chinese Renminbi
United States Dollars
Euro

Singapore Dollars

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the balance sheet

date were as follows:

Bank overdrafts BITHEX
Trust receipts import ERkEED
bank loans RITER

Finance leases FBERL
Short-term bank loans 52 #33R 17 & %
Long-term bank loans RERITER

21. @& (&)
BITEBEZREEDNEUATERIE
Consolidated
ma
2007 2006
HK$/000 HK$’000
FET FAT
T 227,776 217,387
ARE 45,914 33,810
e 5,687 3,228
BT 126 —
¥ hnig o — 373
279,503 254,798
REEBZBRFENENT :
2007 2006
HK$ RMB Us$ S$ Euro HK$ RMB US$ S$ Euro
BT AR¥ En FMET B Br ARE XL BT BT
7.75% — — — — 6.75% — — 7.25% —
6.88% — 7.60% — 7.75% 6.16% — 6.18% — —
5.81% — — 5.83% — 3.39% — — 5.83% —
5.87% 5.86% — — — 5.41% 5.70% — — —
5.66% — — — — 5.24% — — — —



22.

23.
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Finance lease obligations 22. BBRENER
Consolidated
e
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Total minimum lease payments under finance leases M BRAHELER
— not exceeding one year — NHBiBE1F 2,782 8,174
— more than one year and not exceeding two years — BB FETBE2F 2,226 2,631
— more than two years and not exceeding five years — B@2F B TR 742 2,767
5,750 13,572
Less: Future finance charges B RREI TS B A (327) (825)
5,423 12,747
Analysed as: P (N
The present value of obligations under finance leases M B RAOEBHHIEE
— not exceeding one year — TiBR1F 2,565 7,655
— more than one year and not exceeding two years — BEIFETBEF 2,124 2,428
— more than two years and not exceeding five years — HiB2F BT HIBSF 734 2,664
5,423 12,747
Less: Amounts payable within one year included under 5 : JIARBEABEZEFA
current liabilities RIBR (2,565) (7,655)
2,858 5,092
Trade and bills payable 23. ESEAERIRRERE
The aging analysis of trade and bills payable is as follows: B EMNEREEZEERSTWOT :
Consolidated
RE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT THET
1 to 90 days 1290K 124,209 116,196
91 to 180 days 912180k 20,740 14,288
181 to 365 days 181£2365K 8,038 3,592
Over 365 days T iB365K 1,224 418

154,211 134,494
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23.

24.

Trade and bills payable (Cont'd)

The Group’s trade and bills payable were denominated in the

following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars
Chinese Renminbi
United States Dollars
Others

Deferred income tax

23.
BT
AR
eV
Hitp
24,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a

legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against tax

liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal

authority. The net amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled

after 12 months

5P 1218 A 12 (B 5 B JE A

PremialE

The movements in the deferred tax account are as follows:

Beginning of the year

Deferred taxation credited to income

statement (Note 11)
Translation adjustments

End of the year

F1
RUERFAZ
EAER A (FEE11)
E R

FR

BEZENERAKRESE (&)

AEBZEFRNEREZBRATIEEIIE

Consolidated

ma

2007 2006
HK$/000 HK$'000
FET FHET
68,621 60,289
63,441 36,220
10,357 15,516
11,792 22,469
154,211 134,494

EE &5

EHEAERNATENA SRS HAEELR
PHBABIREE REEREHRERF—
PR ABREEMSHEER BEA T BEE

ey o EREEATENAT

Consolidated

®E
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
13,303 15,794
BEFRE 2 SBFBNOT -
Consolidated
wE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAT
15,794 17,301
(2,644) (1,541)
153 34
13,303 15,794




24.

Deferred income tax (Cont'd) 24.
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the

same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

EEFFEHR (&)
EREVAEENBEZEZS (LARFERRA—
EBhithEz EHREE)mT

Deferred tax assets: EEBREEE:
Tax losses Others Total
HEBH Hit wat
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT FERT FAET FERT FAT
Beginning of the year F ) 258 — 458 1,856 716 1,856
Credited/(Charged) to NG
income statement A (FB) (258) 258 5 (1,396) (253) (1,138)
Translation adjustments [ i, 5 % — — — 2) — 2)
End of the year FaR — 258 463 458 463 716
Deferred tax liabilities: EEFIEEE:
Accelerated taxation depreciation
IR E T
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Beginning of the year F1 16,510 19,157
Credited to income statement R E &P EA (2,897) (2,679
Translation adjustments E H K 153 32
End of the year F 4R 13,766 16,510

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future profits is probable. The Group
has not recognised deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$29,837,000 (2006: HK$27,477,000), in respect of the tax
effect of cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by the
relevant tax authorities) amounting to HK$29,273,000 (2006:
HK$24,553,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. As at 31st March, 2007, tax losses amounting
to approximately HK$6,927,000 (2006: HK$5,991,000) will
expire in 2012, while the remaining balance can be carried

forward indefinitely.

MANAENNEBEINABEEMSEREE
HRAR  MELAE M EE B B EERTUR K
EBETEEEZRNEERRBR AEEITE
T 52 I AT 15 B & E 4929,837,0008 T (= 2
T X 4 127,477,000 7T) - H F129,273,0007
T EABEEBEEBZREFYE (ZETRF:
24,553,000/ 7T ) A] LA 45 85 R K 85 A 12 B FE R
MBA (EZEBERGHRERE) HEBIELD
$6,927,000% 7T (ZZT T /5 : 5,991,000% 7T )
R T —ZFfEm SEAEREEE -
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25.

26.

Share capital 25. RA
2007 2006
Number of Number of
shares Nominal value shares Nominal value
RO EAE H{E &7 2 B [EEED
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
FR] FTER F & FAET
Authorised — EERAR —
Ordinary shares of SREME.1IEITZ
HK$0.1 each R 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid — DETRERE —
Ordinary shares of FREE.1E T
HK$0.1 each: il
Beginning of the year F 1) 429,476 42,947 425,175 42,517
Issue of shares upon B 17 it B8 P i
exercise of share options mEET 2K M — — 4,301 430
End of the year F1x 429,476 42,947 429,476 42,947
Employee share options 26. EEERE

In 2002, the Company adopted a new employee share options
scheme (the “New Share Options Scheme”) to replace the
old employee share options scheme adopted in 1993 (the
“Old Share Options Scheme”). Under the New Share Options
Scheme, the Company may grant options to employees
(including executive directors of the Company) to subscribe for
shares in the Company, subject to a maximum of 30% of the
nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares issued on
the exercise of options. The exercise price will be determined
by the Company’s board of directors and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant of the options, (ii) an average closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle
the options in cash. All options granted under the Old Share
Options Scheme will continue to be valid and exercisable in

accordance with the rules of the Old Share Options Scheme.

RZTZEZF  ARREMAFTIEEBRETE
(TFstE DARREBE - WA =FEA2ER
ERRETE (B8 - REFTEARQA
ARBI(BEARBZHTES)REER
BUARBARARAIKGD  MAIBTZROERES
BAARTHEEITRG Z230% BERTER
ITEEREMEITZRG REBEHARAZ
EERET HAABRRUTZBzREE
HRE L BEBARRA KRG 2 WTE: (AR A
BONREEREABIAEEEBR ZBRMHFS
W (8 5 R(iyA 2 R G 2 @ E (BEF0.17%8
) AEBYEETHMEETETEERIUR
XN EEBRE  AERETERLE ZER
BB R R AIRIBET B 2 E BB TE -



26.

Employee share options (Cont'd)

Movements of employee share options during the year ended

31st March, 2007 were:

Date of grant
R AH

Old Share Options Scheme
BRI

10th September, 1997

—hAhEFAATA

New Share Options Scheme

RS
6th February, 2004

—ETNF_ARH

19th February, 2004

—ETENF_A+AH

29th December, 2004

e s ey Y W

28th October, 2005

9th February, 2007

—ETLE-ANA

Exercise period

17

11th March, 1998 to
9th September, 2007
—ANANF=ZA+—HZ
—ZEEHFAANE

6th August, 2004 to
5th February, 2007

“ZEEFENARNBE

—EELF-_ATH

19th August, 2004 to
18th February, 2007

—ZEZPENATAEE
“EREF-A+NA

29th June, 2005 to
28th December, 2007
—TERFANAZTBRE
—EELF+A=+NR

29th April, 2006 to
27th October, 2007
—EERENAZTAERE
ZETLF+AZ++ER

9th August, 2007 to
8th February, 2010

—EREFNANAE
—E-FTF-_ANH

Subscription
price per share

BRABE

HK$0.69

0.697%7T

HK$0.93

0.93%7T

HK$1.07

1.0747T

HK$0.77

0.77%7T

HK$0.72

0.727%7T

HK$0.48

0.4877T

= 1
20. EEBEKRE (E)
BE_ZZ+F=A=1+—HILFERNZESR
BROEZSHMT
Number of shares
RHBE
Beginning Granted Exercised Lapsed
of year during the year during the year during the year End of year
49 FRFEH FRTE FRRK FR
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
TR T TR TR TR
3,514 — — — 3,514
3,363 — — (3,363) —
6,900 — — (6,900) —
5,616 — — (764) 4,852
482 — — (64) 418
— 7,585 — — 7,585
19,875 7,585 — (11,091) 16,369
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26.

Employee share options (Cont'd)

The weighted average fair value of options granted on 9th
February, 2007 determined using the binomial valuation model
was HK$0.075 per option. The significant inputs into the model
were share price of HK$0.48 at the grant date, the exercise
price of HK$0.48, volatility of 32.59%, dividend yield of 6.32%
per annum, an expected option life of 2.6 years, and annual
risk-free interest rate of 4.17%. The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of continuously compounded share returns
is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices of listed

companies in a similar business over the last three years.

Based on the above, the fair value of the above options
granted during the year was approximately HK$571,000
(2006: HK$1,324,000). The attributable amount charged to
the consolidated income statement during the year ended
31st March, 2007 was approximately HK$161,000 (2006:
HK$693,000).

26.

EEBKRE (&)

MR- F_ANBREZERENS  H
AFEL-_EHAHETERAGETAGR
0.075%8 70 FHEZEBERA 2 X BZHERBREAR
BEE R ZBMDEK0.48E T RIEE(E0.48758
JC + TEHA R 17 R 18 4 #32.59% - TR HRAR BUR ¥
HEKE32% - TEBIIE IR F Hi2.65F - MR R
FIRERANT7% o WIFERE RO R FIEZELT
BOREESNERBEZFLLRABEELD
ETRARKNEBEREESRTON-

REEGHE REFARLEREZAFED
£571,000% 7T (Z F T /5 F : 1,324,000/ 7T)
NEBE-_ZE+HF=-A=+—BHILFEZHA
WamEkFNBHERLOA161,0008 T (ZFF
7N 693,000 7)) ©



27.

Reserves

Movements were:

Consolidated
Balance at 31st March, 2005

Fair value gains —
Other non-current assets
Currency translation differences

Net income recognised directly
in equity

Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company

Total recognised income
for the year

Dividends paid
Employee share options scheme
— Value of employee services
— Issue of shares upon exercise
of employee share options

Balance at 31st March, 2006

Fair value gains —
Other non-current assets
Currency translation differences

Net income recognised directly
in equity

Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company

Total recognised income
for the year

Dividends paid
Employee share options scheme
— Value of employee services

Balance at 31st March, 2007

ETRF=-A=+-R#&

DT RER—
Kt RDARE
B

ERNESTHER
BN F R
ADEBREREA

R R

FRE#R
LN

BRI

EE MRS

—EERBEE

— T EEBEM
BTN

AFHENRE—
Kb RBAE
B3

EEREETHER
RN FE
AR FBEREAEEET

FRE#R
LN

BRERE
EE MRS
—EERBHEE

RoBTLE=A=t-A&H

27. f#tE
BETHBEMT

Share-based

Share Capital  comy I Translati Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BROEE EXEE ROMEHEE  RERE EREE  REEA BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET AT FTAT FAT TET TET TET
3 100,968 1,169 631 232 (3,511) 183,641 283,130
— — — 127 — 127
— — — — 1,697 — 1,697
— — — 127 1,697 — 1,824
— — — — — 31,128 31,128
— — — 127 1,697 31,128 32,952
100,968 1,169 631 359 (1,814) 214,769 316,082
_ _ — — — (17,141) (17,141)
— — 693 — — — 693
3,189 — (349) — — — 2,840
e 104,157 1,169 975 359 (1,814) 197,628 302,474
— — — 363 — 363
— — — — 9,476 — 9,476
— — — 363 9,476 — 9,839
— — — — — 32,541 32,541
— — _ 363 9,476 32,541 42,380

104,157 1,169 975 722 7,662 230,169 344,854
— — — — — (12,884) (12,884)
— — 161 — — — 161
104,157 1,169 1,136 722 7,662 217,285 332,131
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27.

28.

Reserves(Cont'd) 27. f#&E (&)
Share-based
Share Capital  compensati Translati Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
REE BXEHE ROHESFER REME EHGRE RE A %)
HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$/000
FET AR FET AL BT FAT AR
Company DA
Balance at 31st March, 2005 RZZETRF=A=+—H&H 100,968 520 631 — 39,469 141,588
Profit for the year F R F — — — — 544 544
Employee share options scheme (& B [ i 1 5t &
— Value of employee services —EERBKEE — — 693 — — 693
— lssue of shares upon exercise  — 77 {§ g B fE Ik 1
of employee share options i) e%) 3,189 — (349) — — 2,840
Dividends paid ERBRE — — — - (17,141) (17,141)
Balance at 31st March, 2006 R-BTE=ZA=1+—H&E# 104,157 520 975 — 22,872 128,524
Profit for the year FREF — — — — - —
Employee share option scheme & B E A =T &

— Value of employee services —EBERKEE — — 161 — — 161
Dividends paid BERRE — — — — (12,884) (12,884)
Balance at 31st March, 2007 R-ZBTLF=A=+—R&H 104,157 520 1,136 — 9,988 115,801
Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 28. MEBRERERHE
(@ Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (@ BEREFHELEEERE 2HEK:

generated from operations:
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FET
Profit before income tax % 5 BT A 41,625 53,612
Adjustments for: BB
— Interest income — AMERA 1,147) (635)
— Interest expense FMEZH 18,451 14,024
— Depreciation of property, plant and —WE - -BEK
equipment REZE 57,460 47,938
— Amortisation of leasehold land and —HELH R
land use rights o b i PR AR 8 487 2,752
— Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, —HEVE BEREEZ
plant and equipment BiE (e ) F8E 21 (277)
— Share-based payments —BH e 161 693
— Translation adjustments —E N g 153 34
117,211 118,141
Changes in working capital: LELeE
— Inventories —7E (20,138) (12,439)
— Trade and bills receivable — B HRWERRZRE (18,264) (35,089)
— Prepayments and deposits — AR FRE RS 12,427 (2,405)
— Trade and bills payable —BHRNEALZER 19,717 12,354
— Accruals and other payables —EiraBEREMEMAR 7,267 369
Net cash generated from operations KEEE R FE 118,220 80,931
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28. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 28. MERESHRERME (&)
(Cont'd)
(b)  In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of by RESREXRAN LEDE BEER
property, plant and equipment comprise: HETBMABRLE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
Net book amount REFE 171 38
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of property, plantand & %% - 5 M & #E
equipment 2 (B8),/ W @1 277
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand HE W% - B E L& &
equipment Z WA 150 315
29. Commitments 29. EiE
(@) Capital commitments (@) EXREIE
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date contracted REEBEETHNEBRIMRIFAZEARARE
but not yet provided for is as follows: m

Consolidated

o)
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Land T 582 —
Machinery pis =] 31,846 14,576
Furniture and equipment ER VBT 80 1,507

32,508 16,083
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29.

30.

Commitments (Cont'd) 29.

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of land

and buildings, as follows:

Amounts payable Bi& 5
— within one year —1FE R
— later than one year but no later than —2FEFB5ER
and five years
— later than five years —5F LA E

(c) Other commitments
Total pre-determined fees payable to the joint venture
partner of Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited for 50 years up to 2044 amounted to
approximately HK$18,226,000 (2006: HK$18,368,000)
(Note 17).

Financial guarantees 30.
As at 31st March, 2007, the Company had provided guarantees

in respect of banking facilities of its subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$692,592,000 (2006: HK$665,488,000).

The facilities utilised by the subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2007
amounted to HK$309,734,000 (2006: HK$300,871,000).

AiE (&)
(b) ERRHAE

AEERBEIAFH AR ERERR
DHBEMAEZRRZEEERZHRNE
BEOT

Consolidated

wa
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
12,021 10,763
18,267 16,390
3,738 5,751
34,026 32,904
(c) HhEiE
FNEMNEABRRFLERRBIZAE
% 7B 5T BURE 4 ££18,226,0008 T (=
T TN F 18,368,000 L) HE - T
Mg aHA+F (M7 -
B 7S A& i

RZZEZTELtF=ZA=+—8B AQRA®ET
MEBARMERITHEAMEBHRARERY
692,592,000 7T (= T ZT /X F : 665,488,000/
L) R-ZETLF=ZA=+—HEHERF
BB A2 RITEE L A309,734,000% 7T (=
TN 1 300,871,00008 7T ) ©



31.

32.

Banking facilities and pledge of assets 31. RAT f“ BREEER

As at 31st March, 2007, the Group had aggregate banking RZEELF=ZRA=+—H AEBEIR

facilities of approximately HK$639,558,000 (2006: oz & S'Z EXR - BFRMENRRITEESR

HK$636,996,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing 1112 B #8 % 4 5639,558,000%8 7L (Z T T X

and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same F 636,996,000/%71) REBEEARSAE Z IR

date amounted to approximately HK$302,050,000 (2006: 1715 B # #9302,050,000% T (= T ZT X & ¢

HK$316,731,000). These facilities were secured by: 316,731,000/ 7T ) « WL FRITE B 2 HIF 0

T

(i) mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land and buildings (i) AREBBETHEEFRIE - EE®
with a net book value of approximately HK$4,664,000 1B #) 54,664,000 T (Z T T X F
(2006: HK$4,260,000) (Note 15 and Note 16 (c)); 4,260,0007 7T ) (i 5E15 K P #E16(C) )

(i) the Group’s inventories held under trust receipts bank (i) AEBEREFAWEBRITERLHMES
loan arrangements of approximately HK$49,391,000 2 & T 178 4949,391,0008 T (ZTE X
(2006: HK$13,234,000) (Note 18); and % 113,234,000/ 70 ) (H5£18) + %

(iliy  guarantees provided by the Company and certain of its (iiiy ARBREBTFTHBRARFAIEZER-
subsidiaries.

Related party transactions 32. BF 3@ ALT2ZXR5

As at 31st March, 2007, approximately 51.47% of the RZZTZ+F = F=+—H Ik F EBest Grade

Company’s ordinary shares were owned by Best Grade Advisory Advisory Limited (5 25 & 4 B R A¥ B X ik <2 )

Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. B R A 751.47%4 7 © Best Grade Advisory

Best Grade Advisory Limited is owned by two discretionary leltedEE MEzEEEFAE -SSR

trusts, the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lam HMZZmANBEARAEEMR LD EERE

Kwong Yu and Ms. Yeung Chui, directors of the Company. The 2+ o KN 7 E F D R Best Grade Advisory

directors of the Company regard Best Grade Advisory Limited Limited /3 & #& 2 IR 7 o

to be the ultimate holding company.

(@) Particulars of significant transactions between the Group () AEEHREBEATETZEERSHFE
and a related party are summarised as follows: LU

Consolidated

wE
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
Operating lease rentals charged TREERZY
by related parties: HeF -

Megastar Enterprises Limited' ERECEBERAR 58 58
1 Megastar Enterprises Limited is beneficially owned by Ms. Yeung 1 RERCEERATNMAARNERSRELLES

Chui, a director of the Company.

A -
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32. Related party transactions (Cont'd)

32.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors and the

Group’s management, the above transactions were

carried out in the usual course of business and on

normal commercial terms, and in accordance with the

terms of the contract entered into by the Group and the

related party.

(b) Key management compensation

Basic salaries and allowances
Discretionary bonus

Pension costs — defined contribution plans

Share-based payments

33. Event after the balance sheet date

EARG MR
B HRE Z BT
BRIRRAR — FE

& A7 sz B &

33.

In April 2007, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

entered into an agreement to acquire a 75% equity interest in

Taspack Industrial Sdn. Bha., a private company incorporated

in Malaysia, from certain third parties for a consideration of
approximately RM9,444,000 (equivalent to HK$19,836,000).

FHEATZRE (&)
AREEFERAKEZERERA L
BESHE-REBEAR - REEE
RoRBEASEEREALETARL
R AT -

by FEEBAEWSENS

Consolidated

we
2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT FHET
9,880 9,636
281 1,280
K&l 183 175
90 304
10,434 11,395

HEBRSE

RZZEZTLHFNA ARE2E2EWBRFE]
S hEE A T 8 = DU E £99,444,0005 T
(18 %5 519,836,000/ 7T ) Y B Taspack Industrial
Sdn. Bhd., (R R AR AMK L 2 BERAA)
75%MR AR 7 o
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